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Our Chair and Chief Executive
healthAlliance is proud to support the Northern Region District Health Boards
to enable better health outcomes for our region.

Clayton Wakefield
CHAIR

Myles Ward
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

healthAlliance N.Z. Limited

The achievement of DHB priorities and

landscape, improving data sharing

(healthAlliance) exists to provide a

aspirations - within a fiscally constrained

and interoperability, and working

professional shared services1 and

environment - demands ‘step change’

as a capable region. The aim of ISSP

information systems platform for the

improvements in services and the

investments is to create a truly joined-

Northern Region District Health Boards

regionalisation of services where it

up and digitally-enabled health system

(DHBs), who in turn support the delivery

makes sense.

(‘one person, one record, one region’),

of primary, secondary and community

centred around people-powered

healthcare outcomes for 1.9 million New

Regional ICT transformation

Zealanders.

Over the last four years healthAlliance

information across all care settings,

has been focused on stabilising

underpinned by safe, smart, sustainable

the region’s ICT environment and

and modern information systems.

implementing the foundations for the

The ISSP takes into account population

region’s ICT transformation.

and service delivery dynamics, and given

healthAlliance, in partnership with

the fiscally constrained environment,

the Northern DHBs, continues to

makes pragmatic technology

implement the region’s Information

investments. Operating at ‘two speeds’,

Systems Strategic Plan (ISSP). The ISSP

the ISSP is delivering foundational

was developed alongside the Northern

investments whilst also providing the

Region Long Term Health Plan (formerly

flexibility for digital acceleration. The

the Long Term Investment Plan) that

plan includes progressively addressing

details the region’s future models of

the challenges of an aging and complex

healthAlliance has a critical role to

care, health outcomes and strategic

IS ecosystem, with a number of system

support the region to operate as a

priorities, and is informed by the

interdependencies which need to be

joined-up health system, with the

Ministry of Health’s New Zealand Digital

carefully navigated, in order to keep the

patient at the centre of care, through

Health Strategy.

region’s systems and data safe.

Responding to Northern
Region health priorities
The Northern Region is New Zealand’s
largest and fastest growing health
region. The health landscape is changing
rapidly and there is significant growth
in demand for health services as a result
of population growth, demographic
changes, and the shifts towards
preventative, consumer-driven and
digitally-enabled healthcare.

the integration of primary, secondary
and community settings to ensure a
seamless patient experience.

health outcomes and the sharing of

The key themes of the ISSP focus
on strengthening the region’s core
ICT foundations, simplifying the
region’s extensive applications

Annual Report 2019/20
1

supported the region to:

Evolving healthAlliance
(in support of Northern
Region priorities)

•

Implement and embed the new

The last four years has seen a significant

regional ICT governance and

shift in the stability of IS platforms and

programme delivery structures, and

sustained improvements in shared

to commence the implementation

services performance.

The ISSP is now fully into delivery mode.
In the past year, healthAlliance has

of the regionally approved 10year financial plan which looks to
ensure the investment pathway
is affordable and sequenced in
the right way, delivered via a
collaborative regional approach
between DHB executives and

•

•

related capabilities and disciplines
to safeguard the region’s
information systems and data. This
work resulted in healthAlliance
winning Best Security Project at
the 2019 Information Security New
Zealand (iSANZ) Awards.

In recognition of healthAlliance’s
evolution and in alignment with regional

•

improvements to project delivery

Board and DHB stakeholders revised

including the embedding of

healthAlliance’s strategic objectives in

the Business Transformation

2019 to focus on four key areas:

clinicians partnering with

1. ‘Te Tangata’ (The People) –

healthAlliance.

Partner with our customers and
grow our people.

Delivered $37.5m4 of ICT
capital investment, as well as

plans and priorities, the healthAlliance

Commence the implementation of

Strengthened cyber security-

Method and the strengthening of
programme disciplines.

•

Enhanced our Health, Safety &
Wellbeing culture including the

the ISSP ‘Horizon One’ investments

2. ‘Te Mahi’ (The Action) –

launch of a new H&S wellness

to create the foundational platform

Sustain and simplify today’s

mobile reporting app, a dedicated

to support ICT transformation. Key

business.

welfare support capability through

initiatives include:

Covid-19, and new H&S capabilities

3. ‘Te Mahere’ (The Plan) –

• foundational work to support

to support alternative working

Deliver the ISSP to support new

		 the transition to ‘as-a-Service’

models of care.

		 compute and storage-related

4. ‘Te Hangarau’ (The Technology) –

		 hosting models (to relocate

arrangements.

•

inclusion programme with the

Enable digital healthcare.

		 critical DHB ICT infrastructure

Expanded our diversity and
creation of a new Diversity &

		 from regional hospital premises

These revised objectives seek to sustain

Inclusion Council, incorporating

		 to third-party data centres),

the current performance trajectory,

three working groups: Women@

deliver on the region’s IS priorities, and

healthAlliance, Cultural Awareness,

accelerate the region’s transformation

and New Ways of Working.

• progressing with design and
		 implementation planning for
		 Workspace (Windows 7 to
		 Windows 10 upgrade), and
• partnering with the region to
		 support Regional Collaborative
		 Community Care (to enable more
		 collaborative models of care) and

to a technology and digitally-enabled
future.

healthAlliance continues to experience
significant growth in demand for

In the past year, healthAlliance has

core services, including growth in call

delivered improvements in shared

volumes and in the scope of services.

services and service performance:

Through targeted reinvestments and

•

cost saving initiatives, healthAlliance

Sustained customer satisfaction

has absorbed the increased volumes

		 planning for the replacement

levels (87.9%, average NPS3 of

		 Auckland DHB Hospital

+51.5) and sustained service level

		 Administration System that will

performance (95% of Service Level

		 be capable of being scaled

Agreements achieved).

four years5.

Maintained a stable, reliable and

Covid-19 pandemic response

		regionally.

•

•

In total, healthAlliance partnered

highly available ICT environment

with the region to deliver

(consistently performing at

171 information systems and

>99.99% availability) and ensured

technology investment projects,

system performance is consistently

with a combined capital investment

within the agreed SLA targets.

and service requirements, while largely
holding baseline costs flat for the last

In March 2020 healthAlliance mobilised
behind the Northern Region Covid-19
emergency pandemic response to
support the region’s health system.

value of $37.5m2.
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This included a significant increase in
demand for technology, in particular
Telehealth and remote work capabilities,
the rapid expansion of technology
(infrastructure and network) and
digital services (data management and
reporting), ICT support to establish
community and mobile testing sites,
user and service provisioning, and
more recently providing hardware
and software solutions to support
Border Control and Managed Isolation/
Quarantine Facilities.
The Covid-19 response and resurgence
has placed unprecedented demands
on the region, its technology, and our
staff. healthAlliance, as an essential
service, mobilised quickly to scale
the technology and deliver on new
requirements in a very short space of

Conclusion
healthAlliance has had a successful year
with a strong performance from our core
services, the delivery of key foundational
initiatives for the ISSP, and the
mobilisation of our staff and technology
to support the Covid-19 response.
healthAlliance has also developed more
effective relationships across the region
and strengthened partnerships with
central Government agencies.
We offer our thanks to the healthAlliance
Board, DHB and healthAlliance
executive, management and staff for
their continued commitment to the
organisation and to our customers.
Finally, we express our gratitude to our
Northern Region DHB shareholders for
their continued support.

time. This work ensured a seamless
continuity of services for the region,
while simultaneously implementing
alternative work practices to ensure
alignment to Government alert
levels and the health and safety of
healthAlliance staff (refer to key
highlights section).
The role of technology and digital
platforms was significant during
the Covid-19 response. The rapid
scaling of technology enabled virtual
consultations (rather than the traditional
face-to-face) and remote working, which
has resulted in positive feedback across
healthAlliance's customer base. These
outcomes reiterate the important role
of technology and digital enablement
for healthcare and the importance
of continuing to accelerate the ICT
transformation agenda.

1. Technology Services, Customer Services, Project and Programme Services and Regional Internal Audit
2. Includes healthAlliance Capital Plan and Covid-19 related spend
3. Net Promoter Score
4. Includes healthAlliance Capital Plan and Covid-19 related spend
5. Excludes incremental spend arising from expanded scope, research costs and software licensing uplifts
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Nicole and Simon
discussing a cloud-based
digital dashboard that helps
the team monitor
the region's systems.

Our Board of Directors
The Independent Chair and Board of healthAlliance are appointed by our
shareholder DHBs.
Clayton Wakefield
Chair, healthAlliance N.Z. Limited from October 2018. Independent Director.
Clayton has over 35 years’ experience in the banking, financial services, telecommunications and
technology industries and is a Chartered Member of the Institute of Directors. Clayton is a Director
of Co-operative Bank Limited and Chair of Co-operative Life Ltd. He is a member of the Institute of
Directors (IOD) NZ Council and previously Chairman of the IOD Auckland branch.
Clayton is a former Non-Executive Director of Chorus and a former Director of Endace, Fisher & Paykel
Finance and its subsidiaries, a former Chairman of Electronic Transactions Services and Visa New
Zealand and a former Executive Director and owner of Techspace. From 2001-2007 Clayton was Head of
Technology and Operations at ASB Bank.

Catherine Abel-Pattinson
healthAlliance N.Z. Limited from August 2018. Counties Manukau District Health Board shareholder
representative.
Catherine is an experienced Non-Executive Company Director and current Board member of Counties
Manukau Health and the International Accreditation Council. Catherine has worked extensively within
the biotechnology, enterprise mobile solutions and healthcare sectors in Executive and Non-executive
roles.
Catherine holds an MBA from Southern Cross University, has studied Financial Markets at Yale and
Leadership at INSEAD as well as a Certificate in Company Direction from the New Zealand Director’s
Institute.

Dr Andrew Brant
healthAlliance N.Z. Limited from October 2018. HealthSource New Zealand Limited from September
2014. Waitematā District Health Board shareholder representative.
Andrew is the Deputy Chief Executive Officer at Waitematā DHB and held the role of Chief Medical
Officer from 2010 to 2019 after being the Head of Division for Medicine and Health of Older People
Services. Andrew was previously the Clinical Director of Medical Services at Wellington Regional
Hospital, Capital and Coast DHB. Andrew is a Respiratory and General Physician (GP) and a Fellow of the
Royal Australasian College of Physicians. He has a Masters in Business Administration from Cambridge
University and, most recently, a PhD from the Imperial College, London, UK. This is Andrew’s second
term on the Board of healthAlliance N.Z. Ltd after serving from 2014 to 2016. He is also a member of
HealthSource New Zealand Limited’s Board.
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Roger Jones
healthAlliance N.Z. Limited from September 2015. Independent Director.
Roger is the Executive General Manager Business Technology at Auckland Transport. Roger has
extensive experience in the IT industry in both the private and public sectors, working for such
organisations as the NZ Police, Air New Zealand and Fonterra. Roger is also an Advisory Board member
of Hewlett Packard Enterprise (HPE) Global Customer Advisory Board, and the Microsoft Services
Executive Board.

Russell Jones
healthAlliance N.Z. Limited from September 2016. Independent Director.
Russell is the Executive for Technology and Operations at the BNZ. In this role Russell is responsible for
bank-wide technology, operations, properties and sourcing functions. Prior to that, Russell worked for
ASB in leadership roles including Executive General Manager for Retail Banking and Executive General
Manager for Technology & Innovation. Prior to this, Russell’s extensive IT career included working for
paper manufacturer Sappi in both South Africa and Europe, as well as for Carter Holt Harvey in New
Zealand and International Paper in the US. Russell won the New Zealand Chief Information Officer (CIO)
of the Year in 2011 and was #1 in the New Zealand CIO 100 rankings in 2017.

Dr Michael Roberts
healthAlliance N.Z. Limited from June 2020. Northland District Health Board shareholder representative.
Mike is the Chief Medical Officer at Northland DHB. Mike attended medical school in the United
Kingdom but moved to New Zealand to complete his training in Emergency Medicine. Mike worked
in Wellington and Christchurch before returning to England where he held appointments as Clinical
Director of an Emergency Department and subsequently Chief Medical Officer.

Directors who departed during the year
Meng Cheong
healthAlliance N.Z. Limited from July 2016 – January 2020. HealthSource New Zealand Limited from
August 2016 – January 2020.
Northland District Health Board shareholder representative.

Rosalie Percival
healthAlliance N.Z. Limited from September 2014 – August 2020. HealthSource New Zealand Limited from
September 2014 – August 2020.
Auckland District Health Board shareholder representative.
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Our Executive Leadership
Our Board-appointed Chief Executive is responsible for day-to-day operations,
supported by an Executive Leadership team that manages each of our key service
areas. The healthAlliance Executive team is comprised of:
Myles Ward

Simon Jones

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Dr Karl Cole

Wayne Pohe

Chief Clinical Information Officer

GM Transformation

Denise Doyle

Kevin Robinson

GM HR/Payroll

GM Customer & Strategic
Engagement

Robert Hawes

Ramon Manzano

Chief Information Officer

Chief Audit Executive & General

(Acting)

Manager (Regional Internal Audit)
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We partner with
leading global cyber
security experts like the
USA’s Beau Woods from
I am the Calvary
(2nd from right)
to help keep the
region safe.

Our Foundations
The Government, the Ministry of Health, the Department of Internal Affairs, Treasury, and our
Northern Region DHB customers expect us to provide better, smarter, and lower cost services.
About healthAlliance

healthAlliance provides a professional

•

Ministry of Health (including

healthAlliance is a stand-alone company

shared services and information systems

various national advisory groups

established in July 2000 by Counties

platform and leads the region's ICT

that support the development of

Manukau Health and Waitematā District

transformation.

data and ICT standards)

Health Board to provide shared services

We are committed to putting our

•

Department of Internal Affairs

to both shareholders. In March 2011

customers at the centre of what we

Auckland and Northland District Health

do. Strengthening engagement with

•

Government Chief Digital Officer

Boards became additional shareholders.

DHB executives and management is

From 1 July 2017, each of the four

paramount, as is working collaboratively

•

Government Chief Privacy Officer

Northern Region DHBs has a 25%

and in partnership with DHBs to

Cyber Emergency Response Team

implement ICT-enabled health services

•

shareholding. HealthSource New
Zealand Limited (HealthSource)

that support the region’s models of care.

was a wholly-owned subsidiary

Our stakeholders

of healthAlliance, incorporated in
September 2013 through until 30 June
2020 (when the shares were transferred
to financial statements for details).

Expectations’ and the revised New

HealthSource provide Procurement,

Zealand Health Strategy provide

Supply Chain, Financial and Payroll

the district health boards and their

services to the Northern Region DHBs

subsidiaries with clear direction on

and other associated parties.

sector priorities. healthAlliance’s role is

parent subsidiary in terms of the Crown
Entities Act 2004.

to support the DHBs to deliver on these
expectations.
Critical to our success is the
requirement to build and maintain
strong and effective relationships

HealthSource is also a Crown Entity (as

with key stakeholders and to ensure

a subsidiary of healthAlliance until 30

compliance with statutory obligations.

June 2020; and thereafter as a multi-

healthAlliance engages at a number

parent subsidiary) in terms of the Crown

of levels within the overall health and

Entities Act 2004.

central Government environment

Our customers
healthAlliance’s customers are the

including:

•

who in turn support the delivery of
primary, secondary and community
healthcare outcomes for over 1.9 million
New Zealanders.

Regional governance groups and
supporting sub-governance groups

Northern Region DHBs and related
organisations within the health sector,

•

complex eco-system.
The Minister of Health’s ‘Letter of

healthAlliance is a Crown entity multi-

(CERT)

healthAlliance operates in a large and

to the Northern Region DHBs – refer

Status as a Crown entity

and team

•

DHB boards including audit and
finance committees

•

DHB executive teams and DHB
management
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Treasury

Our Region
healthAlliance contributes to supporting the Northern Region DHBs’ strategic focus on
primary, secondary and community healthcare outcomes.

1.9m people
in our region

•
•
•
•

179,000 NDHB
628,000 WDHB
545,000 ADHB
563,000 CMH

•
•
•
•

49.2% European
• 1.9% Middle Eastern,
12.4% Maori
La�n American or African
12.7% Paciﬁc Peoples • 1% Other
22.7% Asian

4 DHBs & 3 support agencies

STOME
R CU
RS
U
O
18,683km2
of NZ covered

14 Hospitals & 6 Emergency Departments

81 Opera�ng Theatres

OU

• 1.1 Million hospital bed days p.a.
• 5 days is the average length of
hospital stay

3,100 beds

R REGIO N

• 155,000
Procedures p.a.

28,550 DHB staﬀ

360 Community Health & Dental sites

• 5 full-service diagnos�c labs
• 5 radiology clinics
• Numerous other outpa�ent &
community facili�es
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Our Services
healthAlliance enables the Northern Region DHBs through the provision of efficient
and effective shared service delivery in the following areas:
Technology Services

healthAlliance is also leading the work to

healthAlliance delivers sustainable

transform the way the Northern Region

Information Systems services to our

DHBs provide health services through

customers. This includes supporting

the use of technology and digital

and maintaining the Northern Region's

innovation. The significant programmes

ICT systems that enable DHBs to

of work include:

deliver effective clinical and business

•

outcomes. healthAlliance supports more

Information Systems Strategic Plan
(ISSP) and supporting Roadmaps

than 25,000 devices, 14,000 mobile

– developing the forward-

phones, over 2,000 applications and the

looking view of the information

underpinning network infrastructure

systems landscape with the goal

(both LAN and WIFI). Key service lines

of transforming the way the

include:

Northern Region DHBs provide

•

Architecture and Design –

health services through the use of

managing the enterprise and

technology.

domain-level architectures for
health services, data, integration,

•

•

Digital Acceleration – identifying
innovative mobile and digital

applications and technology.

solutions and accelerating

Health Operations – managing

the implementation of digital

the ICT infrastructure, workspaces,

innovation opportunities.

Service Operations Centre,
database and on-demand services,
and secure communications.

•

Security and Risk – managing
IT cyber and security activities,
and providing risk and assurance
service to operations and projects.

•

Digital and Mobility – managing
health and enterprise application
services, information and
knowledge management.
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The region’s data & document system
The region’s clinical document repository
integrates over 80 diﬀerent sources of diagnos�c
data, holds over 3 million pa�ent records and is
used by over 3000 clinicians daily
Cyber Security
15,000 spam emails & 900 malicious
emails blocked weekly

Digital Accelera�on
(Transforma�on)
6,600+ Microsoft Teams
users regionally
5,600+ Zoom users
regionally
10,000+ remote access
users regionally
ISSP
(Informa�on Systems
Strategic Plan)
170 ac�ve projects

ENVIRONM
T
C
E
RI

1.5%

NT

Hardware
Approx
25,000
devices &
14,000
mobile
phones

OU

eReferrals sent through
Clinical Portal/Concerto
3,680 eReferrals submi�ed daily

of the health budget is
spent on health informa�on
systems and technology
by healthAlliance p.a.

Service Desk Repor�ng
730 �ckets logged with
the IS Service Desk daily
15,500 user reported
scams p.a.
1 million emails sent daily
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Clinical Portal/
Concerto
25,000 WDHB
& CMH users;
10,000
ADHB users;
4,000
NDHB users

Data infrastructure
8 data centres
14 network core rooms
400+ network hub rooms
1,700+ network devices
90,000+ network client ports
300,000+ diﬀerent types of
devices on network (over a
3 month period)
18,000+ WiFi users per day
70+ telephony systems
100,000+ calls per day
Infrastructure
3,750 servers holding
5 petabytes of data
2,600 databases suppor�ng
2,000 applica�ons

Project and Programme
Services

Regional Internal Audit

healthAlliance operates Customer

Customer Service Centres
Service Centres to support the

healthAlliance provides programme and

represents an important line of

technology, finance, procurement

project services for the Northern Region

defence in the organisation’s Risk

and supply chain activities.

DHBs to deliver the region's ICT capital

Management Strategy. Its role is to

•

investment programme (applications

provide independent assurance to the

and infrastructure).

Boards of Northern Region DHBs and

•

healthAlliance, through performing the

IT Service Desk – 24/7/365
support for incident management,
service request fulfillment,

•

Portfolio Management –

user access provisioning, major

integrated management

incident management and IT

framework for projects

communications.

(governance and centralised
budget, time, quality, issue, risk,

Training – delivery of training
courses for the use of IT systems
(clinical, patient administration
and business applications).

•

Regional Internal Audit Plan as approved
by the audit committees of each DHB
and healthAlliance.

•

audit plans that responds to

and escalation management).

changes in the risk profiles of the

Project Management –

DHBs and healthAlliance.

•

assessment of DHB processes

facilities, infrastructure, ICT and

and governance, confirming

applications projects.

risk-mitigating actions by

Business Analysis – initial
implementation support and
operational handover.
Organisation Change Management
– managing engagement, training
and support during project
implementation.

•

Service Transition – testing
(strategy, planning, execution),
business case planning and
costing, release management.

•

Independent Assurance –

all customer projects including

scoping, detailed analysis,

•

Audit Plan – maintaining flexible

compliance, change, stakeholder

management framework for

•

Regional Internal Audit (RIA)

Project Management Office (PMO)
– methodology management,
resource management, contractor
sourcing, project and portfolio
reporting, project management
toolsets and support.
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healthAlliance and DHB
management are effective.

Key Highlights and Achievements
healthAlliance evolved its strategy in 2019 to focus on four strategic priorities to be
delivered as a multi-year programme. Despite the challenges that Covid-19 presented,
good progress was made in all areas of our strategy.
healthAlliance has evolved its strategy to reflect the changing digital landscape and the evolving Northern Region DHB priorities.
The key focus of the new strategy is to drive the right balance of sustaining the positive performance trajectory within a
fiscally constrained environment, maintaining the stability of the region’s platforms, delivering the agreed investment portfolio
effectively and efficiently whilst progressively reorienting the company to enable the adoption of digital ways of working.

Our Vision:
‘Powering digital healthcare together’

Our Purpose:
‘To enable better health outcomes, by joining up the Northern Region’s data and
information systems and leveraging the shared services model’

Our Strategic themes:

     

Deliver the ISSP to support new models of care

Enable Digital Healthcare

 

‘Te Mahere’ (The Plan)

‘Te Hangarau’ (The Technology)

 


‘Te Mahi’ (The Action) –
Sustaining and Simplifying
Today’s Business

availability, against a target of 99.8%) and ensured
system performance is consistently within the agreed
Service Level Agreement targets. These achievements are
supported by maturity in operational and change/release

The healthAlliance Sustain and Simplify

disciplines to deliver a more reliable and resilient ICT

strategy is focused on sustaining company

environment.

performance, providing reliable and resilient technology

•

services, maturing ITIL1 disciplines, security of systems and

Continued to experience significant growth in demand

data, lowering the cost of projects, improving efficiency and

for core services, including growth in call volumes and in

effectiveness, and maturing risk and assurance.

the scope of services. Through targeted reinvestments
and cost saving initiatives, healthAlliance has absorbed

Key highlights and achievements in the past year include:

•

the increased volumes and service requirements, while
largely holding baseline costs flat for the last four years2.

Sustained service level performance (95% of Service
Level Agreements achieved).

•
•

•

Strengthened cyber security-related capabilities and

Completed 98% of service requests within resolution

disciplines to safeguard the region’s information systems

times (against a target of >96%).

and data. This work resulted in healthAlliance winning
Best Security Project at the 2019 Information Security

Maintained a stable, reliable and highly available ICT

New Zealand (iSANZ) Awards.

environment (consistently performing at >99.99%

1. Information Technology Information Library
2. Excludes incremental spend arising from expanded scope, research costs and software licensing uplifts
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Keeping the region safe
from cyber harm
In our increasingly connected world, cyber threats
are becoming more common.
Keeping people and their information safe is one of our
highest priorities and it’s one we take great pride in.
Our Cyber Intelligence Centre is a sector-leading service that
helps us keep ahead of the game.
It monitors potential online threats and helps to keep the
region’s network functioning well so that clinicians can focus
on what they do best, with peace of mind.
Promoting good information security practices is also an
important part of our role. This is done through a mix of
education and awareness campaigns as well as cyber securityrelated projects.
This work saw healthAlliance pick up a major
honour at the 2019 iSANZ Awards (New Zealand
Information Security Awards), winning Best
Security Project for the Northern Region safe
USB initiative.
We were also a finalist in the Best
Security Awareness Campaign
category for our Northern Region
Cyber Heroes initiative.
Through activities like these,
we are helping to safeguard
clinicians, patients and their
health information in the
Northern Region.

We were honoured
to win Best Security
Project at the 2019
iSANZ Awards.
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‘Te Mahere’ (The Plan) –
Delivering the ISSP to support
new models of care

• Partnering with the region to support Regional
		 Collaborative Community Care (to enable more
		 collaborative models of care) and the planning for the
		 replacement Auckland DHB Hospital Administration

The healthAlliance ‘Deliver the ISSP to

		 System that will be capable of being scaled regionally.

support new models of care’ strategy

•

focuses on delivery of the core sub-programmes and the

Rapidly deployed Telehealth and remote working

annual ICT financial plan, delivery of value, and maturing of

solutions, including expanding remote working capability

demand planning and forecasting.

and virtual meeting and collaboration tools to support
the region's Covid-19 response. These solutions delivered

Key highlights and achievements in the past year include:

•

both clinical benefits (making healthcare more accessible

Implemented and embedded the new regional ISSP

and safer, particularly during the pandemic response) and

governance and programme delivery structures. In the

operational benefits (time and cost saving efficiencies for

prior year the Northern Region DHBs approved the ISSP

clinicians and DHB back-office staff ).

strategy, supporting roadmaps, programme governance

•

structures and delivery methods. Underpinning the

deliver 171 technology projects ranging from small-to-

programme was a regionally approved 10-year financial

medium size initiatives to large scale multi-million dollar

plan to ensure the investment pathway is affordable and

projects, with a combined capital investment value of

sequenced in the right way. The focus in this last year

$37.5m1.

moved to implementation and delivery, via a collaborative

•

regional approach between DHB executives and clinicians

•

In total, healthAlliance partnered with the region to

Maintained high project delivery standards (monthly

partnering with healthAlliance to deliver on the agreed

average of 98% of projects operating at green status,

regional plan.

against a target of 94%).

Commenced the implementation of the ISSP ‘Horizon
One’ investments to create the foundational platform to
support ICT transformation. Key initiatives include:
• Foundational work to support the transition to 		

		 'Infrastructure-as-a-Service’ compute and storage		 related hosting models. This work will relocate critical
		 DHB ICT infrastructure from regional hospital premises
		 to third-party data centres, providing access to more
		 resilient, secure and modern technologies.
• Progressing with design and implementation planning
		 for Workspace (Windows 7 to Windows 10 upgrade).
		 This project will provide the region with a modern
		 desktop operating system, with modern digital
		 workspace tools and Office365.
• Implementation of Telehealth and communications
		 enablers to support the region. This work also
		 supported the Covid-19 response and recovery
		priorities.

1. Includes healthAlliance Capital Plan and Covid-19 related spend

Annual Report 2019/20
16

A step closer to a single
clinical portal
The Northern Region continued the
implementation of its clinical record viewing system during
2019-20.
The Regional Clinical Portal is a patient-centric digital
dashboard that helps clinicians view and access a range of
health information.
It includes medical alerts, radiology and laboratory results,
clinical history and patient movements from a variety of
clinical applications.
Not only does it facilitate better sharing of patient information
within and between the four Northern Region DHBs and
across care providers, it also provides a better way for
clinicians to follow their patients' journey across all care
settings.
The portal is already well established at both Counties
Manukau and Waitematā DHBs, with thousands of clinicians
using it every day to support their work.
Implementation at Auckland DHB began in the first half of
2020 in collaboration between the DHB, healthAlliance and
software vendor Orion.
The project comprised health informatics experts, clinicians,
project managers, business analysts, and members of our

Our IT training team
has been integral to the
success of the Regional
Clinical Portal rollout at
Auckland DHB.

IT training team (pictured) who play a key role in helping
healthcare workers become familiar with their new software.
When Northland DHB goes live (scheduled for early
2021) the Northern Region will benefit from a
single connected clinical viewing system that
will deliver a patient-centric record from
any DHB location. Other authenticated
health providers will also have access,
further connecting the region’s health
information.
Once fully rolled out, the Regional
Clinical Portal will form the largest
patient information ecosystem in
New Zealand, supporting improved
healthcare delivery outcomes for the
region’s 1.9m-strong population.
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‘Te Hangarau’ (The
Technology) – Enabling
digital healthcare
The healthAlliance ‘Enable Digital
HealthCare’ strategy focuses on digital ways
of working, developing digital foundations, digital acceleration
of clinical solutions, and ensuring data is safe and secure.
Key highlights and achievements in the past year include:

•

Initiated the Data Sharing and Interoperability
workstream, with a focus on the development of the
region’s Application Programme Interface (API) strategy
and operating model. This work will improve the way the
region shares data and connects systems together, reduce
system complexity and risk, and improve data quality
through the use of common standards.

•

Implemented an Integration Engine Platform that will
enhance information sharing and interoperability across
the region and help to accelerate the DHBs’ digital
transformations.

•

Commenced the major upgrade of Auckland DHB’s core
clinical viewing system to the Regional Clinical Portal.
This system is planned to be rolled out to Northland DHB
in early 2021 and will provide a consistent experience
for clinicians across all Northern Region locations, as well
as providing a more integrated patient-care experience.
As part of this work, the region has agreed on a regional
operating model to manage the regionalisation
of the system and to safeguard and oversee the
ongoing improvements to it via an Agile deployment
methodology.

•

Upgraded TrendCare, a key workforce planning and
workload management system used at the DHBs, to a
fully regional solution.
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Out of adversity comes
innovation
Covid-19 has forced a seismic shift in the way that
healthcare is delivered.
A 'digital first' model of care delivery was quickly adopted to
support collaboration and offer health consumers the option
of online consultations without the need for face-to-face
interaction.
While providing a safe way to interact during Covid-19, these
‘virtual’ consultations also deliver greater time and cost savings and more convenience for people.
Already in the pipeline as part of the Northern Region’s 10year IS Strategic Plan, many of its initiatives were fast-tracked
into action during the transition to virtual care delivery to
protect both the public and the healthcare workforce.
This included the roll out of Microsoft Teams and
Zoom Video Conferencing for online collaboration, the rapid expansion of software to support
remote working, and new infrastructure to
enable the growth in Telehealth (telephone
and video) clinics. Electronic ordering of
lab results and prescriptions were also
fast-tracked.
Combined, these initiatives have
enabled DHB clinicians to complete paperless clinics from any
location for the first time.
The uptake of these services was
impressive. Waitematā DHB conducted
26,500 virtual appointments between
March and July 2020, compared with 1,246
for the whole of 2018, while Northland DHB
delivered 12,000 appointments via Telehealth
during the Covid period that may otherwise have
been cancelled.
Underpinning these advances is investment in cloudbased security tools that ensures confidentiality and keeps
information safe and secure.

A dental nurse receives
expert advice from a
Northland DHB specialist
during a telehealth
consultation.

Quickly adopted by healthcare workers and administrative
teams, new digital technologies have proved their worth on
the frontlines of healthcare in the Northern Region when they
were needed most.
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‘Te Tangata’ (The People) –
Partnering with our
Customers
and Growing our People

Good Employer
The Crown Entities Act 2004 Section 118 places a requirement
on all Crown Entities to be good employers by ensuring
processes and procedures are in place for the fair and proper
treatment of all employees.

The healthAlliance ‘Partnering with
our Customers’ strategy is focused on providing a positive

healthAlliance takes its responsibility as a good employer very

customer experience, improving customer and clinical

seriously and is committed to promoting and maintaining the

reporting, and enhancing our customer channels. The

health, safety and wellbeing of its staff in the workplace. We

healthAlliance ‘Growing our People’ strategy is focused

acknowledge our responsibilities under the Health & Safety

on demonstrating sound health, safety and wellbeing

employment legislation. Health and Safety representatives

practices, building an engaged and capable workforce, and

have been appointed and trained, policies are in place and

demonstrating equity, diversity and inclusivity.

health, safety and wellbeing services are available to staff.

Key highlights and achievements in the past year include:

Equal Employment Opportunities

•

healthAlliance promotes and encourages equal employment

Sustained customer satisfaction levels (average of 87.9%,

opportunities. healthAlliance is proud of the diversity of its

average Net Promoter Score of +51.5).

•

workforce and is committed to providing fair and equitable
opportunities for all employees and potential employees.

Developed our ‘Health-System-on-a-Page’ to help map
our systems to clinical specialities.

•

Improved our regional IS planning and prioritisation
processes and implemented a small projects framework
to facilitate more agile, efficient and faster delivery to our
customers.

•

Strengthened our partnerships with DHB customers, with
a focus on collaborative working relationships.

•

Commenced the implementation of a new leadership
competency model, with a priority on getting the right
balance of customer focus, delivering results, being
commercial, and engaging and developing our people.

•

Implemented initiatives to support our culture and
engagement, particularly in response to the challenges of
Covid-19 and the adoption of alternative ways of working
including the transition to remote working, in alignment
with national alert level changes, for the majority of our
staff.

•

Leveraged the success of our ‘Women@healthAlliance’
initiative and expanded our focus to include a wider
diversity and inclusion programme. This included creating
a new Diversity and Inclusion Council, which incorporates
a focus on Women@healthAlliance, Cultural Awareness
and New Ways of Working.

•

Enhanced our Health, Safety & Wellbeing culture
including the launch of a new H&S wellness mobile
reporting app, a dedicated welfare support capability
through Covid-19, and new H&S initiatives to support the
increased number of staff working from home.
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Diversity & Inclusion at
healthAlliance
Diversity is one of our collective strengths and it
plays a big part in our unique team culture.
In 2019-20 we formalised our diversity initiatives, which
initially focussed on gender diversity, by forming a Diversity &
Inclusion Council with a broader remit.
The Council has three working groups: Women@
healthAlliance, Cultural Awareness, and Ways of Working.
Each plays an important role in promoting, embracing and
celebrating our differences.
We’re also helping to enhance diversity and promote
opportunities in the wider digital health sector.
In 2019 we supported Shadowtech, an initiative connecting
secondary school students with industry mentors
that encourages them onto education pathways
which in turn lead to tech sector jobs.
Along with becoming signatories to the UN
Women’s Empowerment Principles, the
Diversity & Inclusion Council will further
strengthen and guide our diversity
journey, one that is now embedded
in our company strategy.

healthAlliance
supports Shadowtech,
an initiative that provides
students a pathway into
the tech sector.
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•

Kowheori-19,
Mate Korona Covid-19 pandemic response

Increased licensed Microsoft Teams accounts for regional
online collaboration and in support of remote working
requirements, and provided extensive support and
training.

In March 2020 healthAlliance mobilised

•

behind the Northern Region’s Covid-19

Data warehouse and visualisation capability expanded

emergency pandemic response. The response required a

to provide a Regional Data Store, allowing the Northern

rapid expansion of digital services to protect and support

Region Health Coordination Centre to make timely and

the region’s health system. Consequently, significant

informed decisions.

•

healthAlliance resources and investments were redirected to
support the Northern Region Health Coordination Centre's

Provision of hardware and software solutions to support
Border Control and Managed Isolation & Quarantine

emergency response.

Facilities in Auckland.

Key highlights and achievements in the March to June period
included:

•

Managing 650+ requests for digital solutions and support
from the DHBs.

•

Delivering paperless e-prescriptions for outpatients and
e-notifications for Covid-19 cases in all care settings.

•

Rapid set up of wireless networks, software and hardware
to enable 20 new Covid-19 Managed Isolation Centres,
Border Registration and Community Based Assessment
Centres.

•

Providing hospitals with networking, device and
communications equipment to establish new Covidspecific wards and sites.

•

Supporting the establishment of Telehealth capability
with primary and secondary care to support secure virtual
consults via Zoom Video Conferencing.

•

Successfully delivered a negative Covid-19 test result SMS
messaging solution for the region.

•

Enabled and supported 7,600 health sector workers to
work remotely or from home. This included procuring,
configuring and delivering several thousand mobile and
desktop devices.

•

Quadrupled internet capacity to seamlessly cater for
increased Zoom and Citrix (remote access software)
capacity and resilience.
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Responding to Covid-19
When Covid-19 first appeared in New Zealand
in early 2020, healthAlliance leapt into action to
support the Northern Region’s health response.
The challenge was significant: ensuring the continuity of
critical ICT services that underpin public healthcare services
during the pandemic.
Working in tandem with the Northern Region Health
Coordination Centre, healthAlliance teams were dispatched
across the region to set up new hospital wards, communitybased testing centres, border testing sites, and managed
isolation and quarantine facilities with all the supporting
technology that frontline healthcare workers needed to carry
out their vital work.
Thousands of laptops, monitors and mobile devices were
sourced, configured and delivered to allow clinical and
non-clinical staff to carry out their work safely and securely
remotely or from home.

Providing tech
support for health
workers at Auckland
International Airport’s
Covid-19 testing
facility.

A regional digital dashboard to enable real-time tracking of
Covid-19 testing outcomes was developed and made available
to the Ministry of Health.
In addition, a rapid prototype was developed within the
region’s existing e-referrals system to enable automatic
texting of negative Covid-19 test results. At its peak
up to 10,000 notifications were sent via this system,
which was fully integrated into the patient
record.
The e-referrals system was reconfigured
to allow GPs to notify of suspicion of
Covid-19, with information fed directly
to the Auckland Regional Public Health
Service and the regional data store.
The system has had more than 190,000
notifications so far.
We also made sure that critical clinical and
business applications that supported the health
response were always available to our customers
whenever they were needed.
Our frontline user support, training and security teams all
worked around the clock to help the cause.
The combined effort was significant. We are enormously proud
to have stood side-by-side with our customers during one of
the most challenging times in our recent history.
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Our Performance
Delivering on Government, Sector and Regional expectations.
Strategic Priorities
Government Health
System Vision

• Pae Ora / Healthy Futures
• New Zealand Healthcare Triple Aim
• New Zealand Health Strategy

Sector Strategies

• NZ Disability Strategy
• Māori Health Plans
• Healthy Ageing Strategy

Government &
Health Sector
Priorities

All New Zealanders live well, stay well, in a system that is people-powered, provides services closer to
home, is designed for value and high performance,
and works as one team in a smart system
Health Sector Outcomes

Key outcomes:
• We live longer in good health
• We have improved quality of life
• We have health equity for Māori and other groups
• Improving child wellbeing
• Improving mental wellbeing

Health Sector Planning
Priorities

• Improving wellbeing through prevention
• Better population health outcomes supported by a strong and equitable public
health and disability system
• Better population health outcomes supported by primary healthcare
• Strong fiscal management

Shareholder DHBs

Northern
Region
Priorities

• DHB Statements of Intent and Annual Plans
• Northern Region Service Plan
• Optimise health outcomes (prevent, intervene early, planned proactive care,
targeted to need)
• Optimise patient experience

Northern Region Health
Plan Strategic Responses

• Optimise quality, safety and effectiveness
• Optimise efficiency and productivity
• Invest in fit for purpose resources (workforce, facilities, clinical equipment,
information technology)
• Optimise equity (in outcomes, experience, quality, productivity and required
infrastructure)

Vision

Powering digital healthcare together

Purpose

To enable better health outcomes, by joining up the Northern Region’s data and information systems and
leveraging the shared services model

healthAlliance
Priorities
Strategic Interventions

Shared Service Delivery

Regional Healthcare Transformation

• Partner with our Customers and
Grow our People

• Deliver the ISSP to Support New
Models of Care

• Sustain and Simplify Today’s Business

• Enable Digital Healthcare
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Our Performance
Performance against long term objectives.
Aligned to the company strategy, healthAlliance established a new set of longer term performance metrics in 2019.
healthAlliance’s impact measures describe the proposed improvements and interventions healthAlliance intends to make in
support of Northern Region healthcare goals over the next 4-10 years.
The performance outcomes are summarised in the table below and the more detailed explanations of measures and
commentary are included in the Statement of Service Performance section.

Impacts

Sustain and Simplify Today’s Business
• Provide a positive customer experience
• Reliable and resilient technology services
• Improve efficiency and effectiveness

Deliver the Information Systems Strategic
Plan (ISSP) to support new models of care
• Modernise and strengthen ICT foundations
• Simplify, harmonise and rationalise our layers
of applications
• Increase data sharing and interoperability
• Working together as a capable region

•
•
•
•

Enable Digital Healthcare
Digital ways of working
Develop digital foundations
Digital acceleration of clinical solutions
Ensuring data is safe and secure

Performance Outcome
(for the year ending 30 June 2020)

Measures

1. The percentage of customers satisfied with
healthAlliance’s Customer Satisfaction Survey
(target of >80%)
2. High availability of critical clinical systems (as
defined by the Northern Region Service Level
Agreement and reported monthly, target of >99.8%
availability)
3. Variance to the approved healthAlliance
operational budget (Opex within 2%)

1. ISSP Roadmap version 2 approved and in-year
programme milestones met, as agreed through the
annual budget approval process
2. 10-year IS financial plan approved and refreshed
annually

1. Regional Digital Operating Model defined and
approved
2. Digital accelerator projects agreed and in-year
programme milestones met, as agreed through the
annual budget approval process

1. 87.86% of customers satisfied with
healthAlliance’s Customer Satisfaction Survey
2. 99.99% high availability of critical clinical systems
3. 1.4% variance to approved operational budget

1. The review of the ISSP Roadmap version 2.0 was
scheduled to occur in 2020. However, this was
deferred as a result of Covid-19. At the March 2020
meeting, the Board approved a reprioritisation of
the annual portfolio of projects which included
pausing a sub-set of projects and the freeing up of
funds to reallocate to Covid-19 response activities.
The Regional Governance Groups and Board
subsequently agreed to further defer the ISSP
refresh activities until late 2020/early 2021 to take
account of Covid-19 recovery learnings, emerging
regional priorities (including the region's Long Term
Health Plan priorities and insights from the national
Health & Disability Review), and the need to clarify
funding for unbudgeted exposures in the original
plan including Health Information Platform, Identity
and Access Management and Telecommunicationsas-a-Service.
Notwithstanding the delay to the ISSP Roadmap
review and refresh, the revised set of projects,
as agreed through the annual budget approval
process, were delivered within the agreed set of
project tolerances (as measured by the SLA for
Project Status, where the average for the full year
was 98% of projects at green status).
2. The 10-year IS Financial Plan was approved by the
region including DHB Boards in October-December
2019. The plan sets out an affordable pathway of
IS investments over the next 10 years (inclusive of
expected central government funding contributions
for key initiatives).
1. The regionalised digital way of working model
and initiatives was accelerated as part of the
Covid-19 response to enable the rapid move to
remote working and digital development.
2. The digital acceleration initiatives were
progressed through the Data Sharing and
Interoperability (DSI) programme of work. The
scope and priorities of the programme were
changed during the year to align to the region’s
Covid-19 response efforts. Initiatives progressed
included shared Primary Care Summary (including
e-notification for Covid-19 cases in all care settings),
paperless e-prescriptions for outpatients, Regional
Data Sharing and Interoperability, Application
Programming Interface Operating Model and
Gateway Establishment.
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Statement of
Performance

26

Progress to Plan
healthAlliance as an organisation, in addition to customer benefits and service quality,
measures itself on the achievement of our Statement of Performance, which is
approved by the healthAlliance Board.
Shared Service
Key performance measures and results
During the first half of this year, until February 2020, healthAlliance was on target to deliver on all of the SPE targets. Covid-19
impacted achieving the key performance indicators with the following outcome: Customer Satisfaction and ICT Availability
exceeded the targets; Operational Expenditure met the target; and funding and delivery of programmes of work was refocused
and reprioritised to support the Covid-19 response - a description of the Covid-19 impact is provided for each performance
measure where relevant.

Output

Customer
Experience
Partner with
our customers
and deliver
an improved
customer
experience

Target

Measure
Definition

Actual

Comment

87.86%

healthAlliance sends a Voice of the Customer survey1 to users of the IT
service desk. The survey asks recipients of a targeted set of questions
on their most recent interaction with the IT service desk.
Overall, healthAlliance achieved an average of 87.86%2 against a target of
80% (average of monthly results, for the 12 month period).

99.80%

High availability of critical
clinical systems (as
defined by the Northern
Region Service Level
Agreement and reported
monthly).

99.99%

healthAlliance has an agreed Service Level for the availability of IT services
(availability of IT services for Tier 1 & Tier 2 applications) each month.
The target is to have applications with greater than 99.8% availability each
month.
Overall, healthAlliance achieved an average of 99.99% system availability
(average of monthly results for the 12 month period).

Efficient and
Effective
Delivery of
Shared Services
within agreed
funding
envelopes.

Expenditure
within +/-2%.

Variance to the approved
healthAlliance operational
budget (Opex within 2%).

Expenditure
1.4% above
budget
(adjusted for
Covid-19).

healthAlliance prepares an operating budget each year which is approved
by the healthAlliance Board and Shareholders. The budget for FY19/20
was to break even, with operating expenditure of $91.7m. Removing
the expenditure relating to Covid-19, healthAlliance incurred operating
expenditure of $92.7m, which was 1.4% greater than the operational
budget.

Cyber Security
Implementation
of cyber
capabilities to
ensure systems
and data remain
safe and secure.

Implement the
FY19/20 Cyber
initiatives
agreed
through the
annual budget
approval
process.

Progressing the
agreed and
funded FY19/20
investments.

healthAlliance, in partnership with the Northern Region, continues to
progress the Cyber Security programme. In FY19/20 a number of multiyear initiatives were completed, including Vulnerability Management
capabilities and visibility into security platform and security tool suites to
deliver insight and awareness into cyber security health and preparedness,
posture and maturity, and compliance and risk. For example: Regional
Threat Management for Cloud, Regional security assessment capability and
Regional Cyber - Privileged account Management.
The new initiative for FY19/20 was to develop a Regional Cyber Intelligence
Centre Platform. The delivery was impacted by Covid-19 and will now be
completed in FY2021.

Sustain ICT
Performance
Provision
of reliable
and resilient
technology
services.

80%

% of Customers satisfied
with healthAlliance’s
Customer Experience
(Satisfaction) Survey
(target of >80%).

Cyber Security FY19/20
capital plan approved
and FY19/20 initiatives
delivered as agreed
through the annual
budget approval process.

1. healthAlliance uses SurveyMonkey, a cloud-based survey tool, to capture and report customer satisfaction. The survey is based on a random sample of all users of
the service desk excluding tickets sourced from the portal or email (every 2nd user for Northland DHB, every 4th user for other DHBs). In the 12-month period FY19/20
there were 21,146 surveys issued, noting 3.2% are healthAlliance staff who also consume services from the IT service desk. The results are based on 2,364 responses
(11% response rate, 2% margin of error).
2. The survey results are influenced by how the survey administrator sets up the survey parameters such as number of responses per user, when and to whom the
survey link is sent, and the collation of the outcome. Limitations of the survey have been identified as a) participants can complete a survey more than once and
b) results may not reflect all the completed surveys.

Annual Report 2019/20
27

Regional ICT Transformation: Deliver the ISSP
Output

Target

Workspace
Implementation of
Windows 10/Workspace
to a supportable environment.

1. Complete Service
Establishment (phase 1).
2. Workload Migration
Business Case approved.

Workspace business
case approved.
Implement Workspace
initiatives agreed
through the annual
budget approval
process.

Data Interoperability
Develop the high level
design for Identity and
Access Management
(IAM) and Health Information Platform (HIP)
foundations to enable
the joining up of data
records.

Data Interoperability
plan approved.
Implement Data Interoperability initiatives
agreed through the
annual budget approval
process.

Delivery of the
Northern Region IS
Financial Plan
Deliver the agreed
capital investment
programme (health
Alliance-led initiatives).

Actual

Infrastructure-asa-Service

Infrastruture-asa-Service
Implementation of
Infrastructure-as-aService (Iaas) solutions
(Service Establishment
+ Workload Migration),
including enablement
of Public Cloud
Connectivity.

Measure
Definition

$46.4m

1. Complete Service
Establishment (phase
1) in the 2nd half of
FY1920.
2. Revised business case
for Workload Migration
(phase 2) finalised and
approved.

1. IaaS Service Establishment progressed.
2. Revised IaaS Business
case completed in July
2020.

Workspace business
case approved and
FY19/20 initiatives
delivered as agreed
through the annual
budget approval
process.

Workspace business
case has been approved
and initiatives are being
progressed as per the
agreed plan.

Data Interoperability
plan approved as part
of Regional Collaborative Community
Care (RCCC) business
case and FY19/20
initiatives delivered as
agreed through the
annual budget approval
process.

The RCCC business
case has been approved, with agreed
programme initiatives
being progressed.

Variance to the
approved
healthAlliance capital
forecast (healthAlliance
capex within 5%).

$37.5m inclusive
of $8.8m redirected
to Covid-19).

Comment

1. Infrastructure-as-a-Service Service Establishment
was delayed as a result of external factors (3rd party
accreditation requirements) and the requirement to
reprioritise resources to support the Northern Region
Covid-19 response. Service Establishment
was completed in the first quarter of FY20/21.
2. The revised IaaS Business Case for Workload
Migration has been approved in July 2020.

The Workspace business case was approved in
June 2019.
The Workspace programme is currently in the design
phase with the selected vendor. The programme has
experienced some delays due to Covid-19 resource
contention and procurement delays, however activity
is underway to ensure key programme implementation milestones are met.

The joint Regional Collaborative Community Care
(including elements of Identity and Access
Management and Health Information Platform) was
approved by regional and national stakeholders in
February 2020. The programme is now in the design
phase and tracking to plan.

healthAlliance prepares a capital budget each year
which primarily covers ICT investment. The capital
budget is approved by the healthAlliance Board,
with Board approved quarterly reprioritisations to
ensure the capital programme can be adapted to
changes in shareholder and organisational priorities.
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, capital projects were
paused to allow the business to focus on immediate
operational pressures. This resulted in a total spend
against planned initiatives of $28.7m, and additional
spend of $8.8m redirected to Covid-19 related capital
demand to allow the Northern Region DHBs to
rapidly change how health services were delivered
(total spend $37.5m, 19% variance).
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Regional ICT Transformation: Enable Digital Healthcare
Output

Target

Measure
Definition

Actual

Comment

The regionalised digital way of working model and
initiatives were accelerated as part of the Covid-19
response to enable the rapid move to remote
working and digital development.
Initiatives delivered include:
• Increasing internet capacity to support a remote
workforce of 16,000+.

Digital Ways
of Working
Implement the
foundations and
enablers to support
digitisation of Northern
Region healthcare.

Regional Target
Operating Model
approved.

Regional Target
Operating Model
defined and approved.

Implementation
accelerated due
to Covid-19.

• Improved Virtual Private Network (VPN) capability
and capacity to enable more staff to work remotely.
• Increasing Zoom/Telehealth capacity and a regional
rollout to support a shift to 80% remote consults,
clinical use cases like patient consultations and
isolation room communications.
• Enabling connectivity for Covid-19 Test Centres and
Red Zones across the region.
• Microsoft Teams regional rollout to improve
collaboration.
• Covid-19 Negative Messaging delivered and
tracking of Covid-19 results, patient status and
locations.

Digital Acceleration
Implementation of
digital accelerator
projects.

Digital accelerator plan
approved.
Implement digital
accelerator initiatives
agreed through the
annual budget approval
process.

Digital accelerator plan
approved and FY19/20
initiatives delivered as
agreed through the
annual budget approval
process.

The finalisation of the
digital acceleration
plan was impacted by
Covid-19. The plan itself
was never completed
however a number of
initiatives progressed.

The digital acceleration initiatives were progressed to
support Covid-19 response through the Data Sharing
and Interoperability (DSI) programme of work. The
scope and priorities of the programme were changed
during the year to align to the region’s Covid-19
response requirements.
Initiatives progressed included shared Primary Care
Summary (including e-notification for all Covid-19
cases in all care settings), paperless e-prescriptions
for outpatients, Regional Data Sharing and Interoperability, Application Programming Interface Operating
Model and Gateway Establishment.
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A clinician measures
a patient's height.
Children's growth data
in the region is recorded
digitally using Eclair
eGrowth Charts.

Revenue and Expenditure by
Output Class - Shared Services
Parent
Revenue

Expenditure

Actual

SOI

Actual

Net Surplus / (Deficit)
SOI

Actual

SOI

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Regional Internal Audit

1,641

2,091

1,657

2,091

(16)

-

Customer Services

9,708

8,879

9,505

8,879

203

-

Finance and Corporate Services

7,185

8,843

10,339

8,843

(3,154)

-

Project and Programme Services

2,130

2,059

3,374

2,059

(1,244)

-

117,155

116,040

110,752

116,040

6,403

-

-

-

4,279

-

(4,279)

-

137,819

137,912

139,906

137,912

(2,087)

-

Technology Services
Covid-19
Shared services

Parent revenue was aligned with budgeted revenue.
The Finance and Corporate Services division incurred a deficit largely due to the increase in the holiday pay provision.
Technology Services incurred a surplus due to project delays causing the operational expense uplift of certain initiatives to
commence later than expected and lower than expected depreciation and amortisation expenditure. Refer to note 1 for details
regarding Covid-19.

Group
Revenue

Expenditure

Net Surplus / (Deficit)

Actual

SOI

Actual

SOI

Actual

SOI

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Regional Internal Audit

1,641

2,091

1,657

2,091

(16)

-

Customer Services

9,708

8,879

9,505

8,879

203

-

Finance and Corporate Services

5,446

5,979

9,202

5,979

(3,756)

-

Project and Programme Services

2,130

2,059

3,374

2,059

(1,244)

-

117,155

116,040

110,753

116,040

6,402

-

Finance Services

6,495

7,510

6,840

7,510

(345)

-

Procurement

8,799

8,269

8,045

8,269

754

-

Supply Chain

12,954

12,415

12,425

12,415

529

2,920

2,812

2,721

2,812

199

Technology Services

Payroll services
Covid-19
Shared services

1,830

-

6,682

-

(4,852)

169,078

166,054

171,204

166,054

(2,126)

-

The key drivers for the Group performance against the Statement of Intent (“SOI”) are largely the same as the Parent.
HealthSource divisions all delivered a net result within $1.0m of budget. HealthSource also obtained revenue for certain products
purchased for the immediate Covid-19 response.
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 29.
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Capital Spend – Regional ICT Transformation Output Class
Expenditure

healthAlliance Capital Plan

Actual
$000

SOI
$000

28,731

46,400

Covid-19 related spend

8,807

-

Regional Spend

3,328

24,852

Finance Lease
Regional ICT Transformation

7,842

7,842

48,708

79,094

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic capital projects were paused to allow the business to focus on the immediate operational
pressures. This resulted in an underspend of the healthAlliance Capital Plan.
healthAlliance repurposed $10.0m of funding from the healthAlliance Capital Plan to spend on Covid-19 related IT demand, such
as devices and telehealth equipment, to allow the Northern Region to rapidly change how health services were offered. Of this
$8.807m was spent.
The SOI envisaged that $9.6m of Central Government Funding ("CGF"), $4.0m of funding related to the Health Finance,
Procurement and Information Management System ("FPIM") and $11.2m of DHB funding would flow to healthAlliance through C
Class shares. However, CGF and FPIM Funding did not eventuate and DHB funded initiatives were significantly less than expected,
due in part to Covid-19.
The finance lease asset was recognised in the year due to service establishment occurring.
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Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Group

Parent

Actual
2020
$000

Budget
2020
$000

Actual
2019
$000

Actual
2020
$000

Budget
2020
$000

Actual
2019
$000

168,481

163,302

155,554

137,392

133,750

134,995

334

2,752

215

220

4,162

160

263

-

126

207

-

76

169,078

166,054

155,895

137,819

137,912

135,231

4

64,238

57,163

53,084

39,055

31,339

36,011

6,7

42,709

46,301

46,406

42,658

46,240

46,363

Other expenses

3

64,257

62,590

56,106

58,193

60,333

52,557

Finance costs

5b

-

-

8

-

-

8

Total Expenditure

171,204

166,054

155,604

139,906

137,912

134,939

Surplus/ (Deficit)

(2,126)

-

291

(2,087)

-

292

-

-

-

-

-

-

(2,126)

-

291

(2,087)

-

292

Revenue

Notes

Revenue

2

Other revenue
Finance revenue

5a

Total Revenue
Expenditure
Employee benefit costs
Depreciation and
amortisation

Other Comprehensive
Revenue and Expenses
Total Comprehensive
Revenue and Expenses

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 29.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2020

Parent

Assets

Actual
2020
$000

Budget
2020
$000

Actual
2019
$000

Notes

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

9

15,653

(348)

10,895

Debtors and other receivables

10

1,964

5,741

5,740

Prepayments

11

7,575

7,651

7,652

25,192

13,044

24,287

6

77,914

84,544

69,713

Intangible assets

7

113,864

127,666

109,643

Debtors and other receivables

10

6,659

4,946

4,947

Prepayments

11

Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant, and equipment

665

625

625

Total Non-Current Assets

199,102

217,781

184,928

Total Assets

224,294

230,825

209,215

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Creditors and other payables

12

12,769

13,112

15,032

Employee entitlements

13

4,556

3,941

3,941

Provisions

14

3,233

-

1,220

Lease incentives

15

430

430

430

Revenue received in advance

16

506

152

153

Finance lease liability

25

Total Current Liabilities

1,357

1,357

-

22,851

18,992

20,776

Non-Current Liabilities
Creditors and other payables

12

-

2,005

2,005

Employee entitlements

13

2,803

2,963

2,963

Lease incentives

15

2,148

2,146

2,578

Finance lease liability

25

6,485

6,485

-

Total Non-Current Liabilities

11,436

13,599

7,546

Total Liabilities

34,287

32,591

28,322

190,007

198,234

180,893

192,296

198,436

181,095

(2,289)

(202)

(202)

190,007

198,234

180,893

Net Assets
Equity
Shareholders’ equity

18

Retained earnings
Total Equity
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 29.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Group
Contributed
Equity
$000

Retained
Earnings
$000

Total
$000

160,475

184

160,659

Notes

Equity at 1 July 2018

-

291

291

Capital contributions – Class C Shares

Surplus
18

20,620

-

20,620

Equity at 30 June 2019

18

181,095

475

181,570

181,095

475

181,570

-

(2,126)

(2,126)

11,201

-

11,201

Equity at 1 July 2019
Deficit
Capital contributions – Class C Shares

18

Ownership transfer of Subsidiary

24

Equity at 30 June 2020

-

(638)

(638)

192,296

(2,289)

190,007

Parent
Contributed
Equity
$000

Retained
Earnings
$000

Total
$000

160,475

(494)

159,981

Notes

Equity at 1 July 2018

-

292

292

Capital contributions – Class C Shares

Surplus
18

20,620

-

20,620

Equity at 30 June 2019

18

181,095

(202)

180,893

181,095

(202)

180,893

Equity at 1 July 2019
Deficit
Capital contributions – Class C Shares

18

Equity at 30 June 2020

-

(2,087)

(2,087)

11,201

-

11,201

192,296

(2,289)

190,007

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 29.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Group

Parent

Actual
2020
$000

Budget
2020
$000

Actual
2019
$000

Actual
2020
$000

Budget
2020
$000

Actual
2019
$000

169,268

167,314

156,502

140,781

133,746

135,878

-

5,832

68

-

4,164

-

(126,279)

(130,428)

(110,382)

(101,052)

(95,241)

(91,264)

42,989

42,718

46,188

39,729

42,669

44,614

252

-

138

192

-

88

-

-

(37)

-

-

(37)

(196)

-

1,131

(273)

-

1,013

43,045

42,718

47,420

39,648

42,669

45,678

Acquisitions of Property, Plant and
Equipment and Intangibles

(36,904)

(71,603)

(39,459)

(36,848)

(71,253)

(39,357)

Net cash used in
Investing Activities

(36,904)

(71,603)

(39,459)

(36,848)

(71,253)

(39,357)

1,958

24,852

3,687

1,958

24,852

3,687

-

(7,511)

-

-

(7,511)

-

(6,458)

-

-

-

-

-

(4,500)

17,341

3,687

1,958

17,341

3,687

1,641

(11,544)

11,648

4,758

(11,243)

10,008

14,012

14,012

2,364

10,895

10,895

887

15,653

2,468

14,012

15,653

(348)

10,895

Cash flows from
Operating Activities

Notes

Cash receipts from services
Other receipts
Cash paid to employees
and suppliers
Cash generated from
operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Net goods and services tax
Net cash flow from Operating
Activities

8

Cash flows from Investing
Activities

Cash flows from
Financing Activities
Shareholder capital funding
Capital returned
Transfer of Subsidiary
cash balance

24

Net cash flow from
Financing Activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents
at end of the year

9

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 29.
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Statement of Accounting Policies
Reporting Entity

healthAlliance N.Z. Limited (“healthAlliance” or the “Parent”) is a company owned by the Northland, Waitematā, Auckland and
Counties Manukau District Health Boards (the “Northern Region DHBs”), themselves established by the New Zealand Public
Health and Disability Act 2000. healthAlliance’s ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown.
The group comprised healthAlliance and its subsidiary, HealthSource New Zealand Limited (”HealthSource” or the “Subsidiary”)
(the “Group”) until 30 June 2020 when the shares were transferred to the Northern Region DHBs. This Annual Report presents the
operating results, and related notes, for the Group and Parent for the year ended 30 June 2020, but only the Financial Position
for the Parent as at 30 June 2020 due to there being no Group at the conclusion of the financial year. Refer to note 24 for further
details.
healthAlliance was incorporated on 13 November 2000.
HealthSource was incorporated on 26 September 2013 and was wholly owned by healthAlliance until 30 June 2020.
Healthsource changed its name from healthAlliance (FPSC) Limited on 25 November 2019.
Both Group companies are Crown Entities in terms of the Crown Entities Act 2004 and are domiciled in New Zealand. Both Group
companies are public benefit entities as defined for financial reporting purposes and are incorporated under the Companies Act
1993.
healthAlliance’s activities involve delivering support in Technology Services, Customer Services and Project and Programme
Services to health sector customers. healthAlliance is also involved with delivering the Northern Region DHBs' capital plan.
HealthSource’s activities involve delivering Procurement Services, Supply Chain Services, Financial Services and Payroll Services.
Effective 1 January 2019 the Financial Services function moved from the Parent to the Subsidiary (“Financial Services Transfer”).
Effective 1 October 2019 Payroll services were transferred from the Parent to the Subsidiary (“Payroll Services Transfer”).
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board on the date the Statement of Responsibility was signed.

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, and the accounting policies have been applied
consistently throughout the period.

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the
Financial Reporting Act 1993 which include the requirement to comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New
Zealand (“NZ GAAP”).
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Tier 1 PBE accounting standards.
These financial statements comply with Public Sector PBE accounting standards.

Functional and Presentation Currency
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand Dollars (“NZD”), rounded to the nearest thousand dollars (“$000”).
The functional currency of the Group is NZD.

Standards, Amendments and Interpretations
Standards, amendments and interpretations issued and effective that have been adopted and which are relevant to
healthAlliance are:
•

Adoption of PBE IPSAS 34-38

In January 2017 the XRB issued new standards for interests in other entities (PBE IPSAS 34-38). These new standards replace the
existing standards for interests in other entities (PBE IPSAS 6-8). The new standards were effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2019, with early adoption permitted.
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Statement of Accounting Policies (Continued)
The Company has applied these new standards in preparing the 30 June 2020 financial statements. Adoption of these new
standards have had no impact on healthAlliance’s financial statements.
Standards and amendments, issued but not yet effective, that have not been early adopted are:
Amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows
An amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows requires entities to provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and
non-cash changes. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, with early application
permitted. The Group has not early adopted the amendment and does not expect any significant changes.
PBE FRS 48 Service Performance Reporting
PBE FRS 48 replaces the service performance reporting requirements of PBE IPSAS 1 and is effective for reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021. healthAlliance has not yet determined how application of PBE FRS 48 will affect its
Statement of Performance.
PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments
PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments replaces PBE IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and PBE IFRS 9
Financial Instruments and is effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early adoption permitted.
The main changes compared to PBE IPSAS 29 that are relevant to healthAlliance are:
		
		

New financial asset calls classification requirements for determining whether an asset is measured at fair value or
amortised cost; and
A new impairment model for financial assets based on expected losses, which might result in the earlier recognition of
impairment losses.

healthAlliance intends to adopt PBE IPSAS 41 effective the 30 June 2023 financial year. healthAlliance has not yet assessed in
detail the impact of this new standard.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses, Statement of Changes in Equity, and Statement of Cash
Flows are prepared by adding together like items of revenue and expenses on a line-by-line basis. All significant intragroup
transactions, revenue, and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Subsidiary
healthAlliance is required under the Crown Entities Act 2004 to prepare consolidated financial statements in relation to the
Group for each financial year. healthAlliance transferred its only controlled entity to the Northern Region DHBs on 30 June 2020,
refer to Reporting Entity section and note 24.
healthAlliance consolidates in the Group financial statements all entities where they have the capacity to control their financing
and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from the activities of the subsidiary. This power exists where healthAlliance
controls the majority voting power on the governing body or where such policies have been irreversibly predetermined by
healthAlliance or where the determination of such policies is unable to materially affect the level of potential ownership benefits
that arise from the activities of the subsidiary. Consistent accounting policies have been used for both healthAlliance and its
subsidiary.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the group and cease to be consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred out of the group.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, revenue and expenses and profit
and losses resulting from intra - Group transactions have been eliminated in full.
At 30 June 2020, there is no investment in subsidiaries.
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Statement of Accounting Policies (Continued)
Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into NZD at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at balance date are translated into NZD at the foreign exchange
rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the surplus or deficit. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at
the date of the transaction.

Budget Figures
Before the start of each financial year, a health-related Crown entity must prepare a Statement of Performance Expectations
(“SPE”) and provide this in draft to the Minister of Health not later than two months before the financial year to which the SPE
relates. The entity must also provide a draft SOI to the Minister of Health not later than two months before the start of the first
financial year to which the SOI relates.
Owing to pressures arising from the Covid-19 pandemic the Minister of Health provided a revised timetable for submission.
The revised timetable required DHBs (and their subsidiaries) to finalise and publish their SPE and SOI by 15 August 2020.
healthAlliance submitted its draft SPE and SOI to the Ministry of Health on 28 July 2020. The finalised and Board approved
SPE and SOI were filed with the Minister of Health/Ministry of Health on 14 August 2020, and subsequently the House of
Representatives as per the normal submissions processes.
The budget figures have been prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted by the Group for the
preparation of these financial statements.

Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and call deposits with maturity of no more than three months from the date
of acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of healthAlliance’s cash management are
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.
Debtors and Other Receivables
Short term receivables are recorded at their face value, less an allowance for credit losses. healthAlliance applies the simplified
expected credit loss model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for receivables.
In measuring expected credit losses, short-term receivables have been assessed on a collective basis as they possess shared
credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped based on the days past due.
Short-term receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include the debtor being in liquidation.

Financial Liabilities
Creditors and Other Payables
Creditors and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Classes of Property, Plant And Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of the following asset classes:
•

Leasehold Improvements

•

Plant and Equipment

•

Vehicles

•

IT Equipment

Owned Assets
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. The cost of self-constructed assets includes
the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate proportion of direct overheads.
Where material parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate
components of property, plant and equipment.

Annual Report 2019/20
40

Statement of Accounting Policies (Continued)
Additions of Property, Plant and Equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic
benefits or service potential will flow to the Company and the cost can be measured reliably.
Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment, and is not depreciated.
Disposals of Property, Plant and Equipment
Where an item of plant and equipment is disposed of, the gain or loss recognised in the surplus or deficit is calculated as the
difference between the net sales price and the carrying amount of the asset.
Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the surplus or deficit using the straight line method.
Depreciation is set at rates that will write off the cost of the assets, less their estimated residual values, over their useful lives.
These rates are reviewed annually. The estimated useful lives of major classes of assets and resulting rates are as follows:
Class of Asset

Estimated Life

Depreciation Rate

Leasehold Improvements

3 to 10 years

10% to 33.3%

Plant and Equipment

5 to 20 years

5% to 20%

Vehicles		

5 to 8 years

12.5% to 20%

IT Equipment

3 to 8 years

12.5% to 33.3%

The residual value and useful life of an asset are reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year end.
The total cost of a project is transferred to the appropriate class of asset on its completion and then depreciated.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated remaining useful lives of the
improvements, whichever is the shorter.
Subsequent Costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that future economic benefits or service
potential associated with the item will flow to healthAlliance and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant, and equipment are recognised in the surplus or deficit as they are incurred.

Leases
Finance Leases
A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset,
whether or not title is eventually transferred.
At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases where healthAlliance is the lessee, are recognised as assets and liabilities
in the statement of financial position at the lower of the fair value of the leased item or the present value of the minimum lease
payments.
The finance charge is charged to the surplus or deficit over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability.
The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful life. If there is no reasonable certainty as to whether
healthAlliance will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term
and its useful life.
Operating Leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to
the lessee.
Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term.
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Statement of Accounting Policies (Continued)
Intangible Assets
Software
Software that is acquired by healthAlliance is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation. healthAlliance also develops and
modifies software and the cost of internal staff time is added to the value of the software where future economic benefits of
service potential of this will flow to healthAlliance.
Costs associated with the development and maintenance of healthAlliance’s websites are recognised as an expense when
incurred.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Amortisation
Amortisation is recognised in the surplus or deficit on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets.
Intangible assets are amortised from the date they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Type of Asset

Estimated Life

Amortisation Rate

Software

2 to 10 years

10% to 50%

Work in progress is not amortised.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets
healthAlliance does not hold any cash-generating assets. Assets are considered cash-generating where their primary objective is
to generate a commercial return.
Impairment
The carrying amounts of the healthAlliance’s assets are reviewed at each balance date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amounts are estimated.
If the estimated recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the asset is written down to its estimated
recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
Reversals of Impairment
Impairment losses are reversed when there is a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Employee Entitlements
Short-Term Employee Entitlements
Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employee renders
the related service are measured at nominal values based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned up to but not yet taken at balance date, sick
leave, long service leave and retirement gratuities.
A liability for sick leave is recognised to the extent that absences in the coming year are expected to be greater than the sick
leave entitlements earned in the coming year. The amount is calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can be
carried forward at balance date, to the extent that it will be used by staff to cover those future absences.
Long-Term Employee Entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12 months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the
related service, such as long service leave and retirement gratuities, have been calculated on an actuarial basis. The calculations
are based on:
•

likely future entitlements accruing to staff based on years of service, years to entitlement;

•

the likelihood that staff will reach the point of entitlement and contractual entitlement information; and

•

the present value of the estimated future cash flows.
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Statement of Accounting Policies (Continued)
Provisions
A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when there is a present obligation (either legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Restructuring
Provisions for restructuring are recognised when healthAlliance has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan and the
restructure has been publicly announced or commenced. Future operating costs are not provided for.

ACC Partnership Programme
The Group belongs to the ACC Accredited Employers Programme (the “Full Self Cover Plan”) whereby the Group accepts the
management and financial responsibility for employee work-related illnesses and accidents. Under the programme, the Group
is liable for all claim costs for a period of two years after the end of the cover period in which the injury occurred. At the end of
the two-year period, healthAlliance pays a premium to ACC for the value of residual claims, and from that point the liability for
ongoing claims passes to ACC.
The liability for the ACC Partnership Programme is measured using actuarial techniques at the present value of expected future
payments to be made in respect of employee injuries and claims that occurred up to balance date. Consideration is given
to anticipated future wage and salary levels and experience of employee claims and injuries. Expected future payments are
discounted using market yields on New Zealand Government bonds at balance date with terms to maturity that match, as closely
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Superannuation Schemes
Defined Contribution Schemes
Employer contributions to KiwiSaver and other schemes in which employees are participating are accounted for as relating to
defined contribution schemes and are recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

Income Tax
The Parent and Subsidiary are both exempt from income tax under Section CW38 of the Income Tax Act 2007.

Goods and Services Tax
All amounts are shown exclusive of Goods and Services Tax (“GST”), except for receivables and payables that are stated inclusive
of GST. Where GST is irrecoverable as an input tax, it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department is included as part of receivables or
payables in the statement of financial position.
The net GST paid to, or received from the Inland Revenue Department, including the GST relating to investing and financing
activities, is classified as a net operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

Revenue
Services Rendered
Revenue from services is recognised, to the proportion that a transaction is complete, when it is probable that the payment
associated with the transaction will flow to the Group and that payment can be measured or estimated reliably, and to the extent
that any obligations and all conditions have been satisfied by the Group.
All services are provided on commercial terms and are considered to be exchange transactions.
Interest
Interest received and receivable on funds invested is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method,
allocating the interest revenue over the relevant period.

Expenses
Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the financial year in which they are incurred.

Equity
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified into the
following components:
•

Retained earnings; and

•

Share capital.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

In preparing these financial statements, healthAlliance has made estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experiences and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year discussed below.
Holiday Pay Provision
Note 14 provides an analysis of the provision held in relation to compliance with the Holidays Act (2003) (the “Act”).
A number of New Zealand’s public and private organisations have identified issues with the calculation of leave entitlements
under the Holidays Act (2003).
Work has been ongoing by the Group since 2016 on behalf of the Northern Region DHBs, with the Council of Trade Unions
(“CTU”), health sector unions and the Ministry of Business Innovation and Employment (“MBIE”) Labour Inspectorate, for
an agreed approach to identify, rectify and remediate any Holidays Act non-compliance by the Northern Region, including
healthAlliance and HealthSource. The Group has agreed to a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”), which contains a method
for determination of individual employee earnings, for calculation of liability for any historical non-compliance.
The remediation project associated with the MOU is a significant undertaking and work to assess all non-compliance will
continue through the 2020/21 financial year. The final outcome of the remediation project and timeline to address any noncompliance will not be determined until this work is completed.
However, during the 2019/20 financial year the review process agreed as part of the MOU has rolled out in tranches to the Group.
The Group’s readiness and availability of resources determined when the process could be commenced. The Group has made
progress in its review and it now believes it can determine a reliable estimate of its obligation to address historic non-compliance
under the MOU.
As a result, as at 30 June 2020, in preparing these financial statements, healthAlliance recognises it has an obligation to address
any historical non-compliance under the MOU. healthAlliance has made estimates and assumptions to determine a potential
liability based on its review of payroll processes for instances of non-compliance with the Act and against the requirements of
the MOU.
The liability has been estimated by:
•

selecting a sample of current and former employees;

•

calculating the underpayment for these employees over the full period of liability; and

•

extrapolating the result across all current and former employees.

This liability amount is healthAlliance’s best estimate at this stage of the outcome from this project. However, until the project
has progressed further, there remain significant uncertainties as to the actual amount healthAlliance will be required to pay to
current and former employees.
The estimates and assumptions may differ to the subsequent actual results as further work is completed. This may result in
further adjustment to the carrying amount of the provision within the next financial year or payments to employees that differ
significantly from the estimation of liability.
Employee Entitlements
Note 13 provides an analysis of the exposure in relation to estimates and uncertainties surrounding employee entitlements.
The accruals for salary and wages, annual leave and other leave are derived from the payroll system used by healthAlliance.
The salary and wage accrual reflects the estimate for the unpaid days since the last pay fortnight ended to the end of the June
reporting year. Annual leave and other leave are the accumulated entitlements by individual and the applicable rate of pay.
The present value of retirement and long service leave obligations depend on a number of factors that are determined on an
actuarial basis. The two key assumptions used in calculating this liability include the discount rate and the salary inflation factor.
Any changes in these assumptions will affect the carrying amount of the liability.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions (Continued)
Expected future payments are discounted using forward discount rates derived from the yield curve of New Zealand Government
bonds. The discount rates used have maturities that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. The salary
inflation factor has been determined after considering historical salary inflation patterns and after obtaining advice from an
independent actuary. The discount rates used this year range from 0.16% (2019: 1.35%) for the first projection year to 2.47% 2.92% from the 31st projection year (2019: 3.42% - 3.87%). Salary inflation has been valued at 2% (2019: 3%).
Estimating Useful Lives of Plant and Equipment and It Hardware Assets
At each balance date, the useful lives and residual values (if any) of the plant and equipment and IT hardware assets are reviewed.
Assessing the appropriateness of the useful lives and residual values requires a number of factors to be considered such as the
physical condition of the assets, expected period of use of the asset by healthAlliance, potential disposal proceeds from future
sale of the asset or changes in business practice where such assets may be sold and leased back or the service provided by a third
party on contract.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will affect the depreciation expense recognised in the surplus or deficit
and carrying amount of the asset in the statement of financial position. healthAlliance minimises the risk of this estimation
uncertainty through a regular asset replacement programme and review of high net book value items.
Estimating Useful Lives of Intangible Assets
At each balance date, the useful lives and residual values (if any) of the intangible assets are reviewed. Assessing the
appropriateness of the useful lives requires a number of factors to be considered such as the expected period of use of the
software by healthAlliance, technological changes in systems and platforms and the expected timeframe for development or
acquisition of replacement systems and platforms.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will affect the amortisation expense recognised in the surplus or deficit
and carrying amount of the intangible assets in the Statement of Financial Position.
healthAlliance has a standard software life expectancy of five years unless specific terms or external evidence indicate a longer
life is reasonable. There are currently no indicators that the expected lifetimes adopted will be materially different.

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following critical judgements have been exercised in applying accounting policies.
Classification of Leases
Determining whether a lease agreement is a finance or an operating lease requires judgement as to whether the agreement
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to healthAlliance.
Judgement is required on various aspects that include, but are not limited to, the fair value of the leased asset, the economic life
of the leased asset, whether or not to include renewal options in the lease term, and determining an appropriate discount rate to
calculate the present value of the minimum lease payments. Classification as a finance lease means the asset is recognised in the
statement of financial position as property, plant and equipment, whereas for an operating lease no such asset is recognised.
Refer to note 25 for further information on the deemed finance lease on private cloud assets.
healthAlliance entered into several historical leases which are combined leases of land and buildings. It was not possible to
obtain a reliable estimate of the split of the fair values of the lease interest between land and buildings at inception of the lease.
Therefore, in determining lease classification healthAlliance evaluated whether both parts are clearly operating leases or finance
leases. Firstly, land title does not pass. Secondly, because the rent paid to the landlord for the building is increased to market rent
at regular intervals, and healthAlliance does not participate in the residual value of the building it is judged that substantially all
the risks and rewards of the building are with the landlord. Based on these qualitative factors it is concluded that the leases are
operating leases.
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Statement of Service Performance
Cost of Service

The cost of service statements, as reported in the statement of service performance, report the net cost of services for the
outputs of healthAlliance and are represented by the cost of providing the output less all the revenue that can be allocated to
these activities.
The Payroll Services Transfer was taken into account in the year ended 30 June 2020 SPE budget figures.

Cost Allocation
healthAlliance has arrived at the net cost of service for each significant activity using the cost allocation system outlined below.

Cost Allocation Policy
Direct costs are charged directly to output classes. Indirect costs are charged to output classes based on cost drivers and related
activity and usage information.

Criteria for Direct and Indirect Costs
Direct costs are those costs directly attributable to an output class. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be identified in an
economically feasible manner with a specific output class.

Cost Drivers for Allocation of Indirect Costs
The cost of internal services not directly charged to outputs is allocated as overheads apportioned based on a proportion of total
expenditure or on the FTE engaged in the delivery of that service, as best applied for the indirect overhead concerned.
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IT Trainer Dan Adam Sy
showing Auckland DHB's
Dr John McCall the new
Regional Clinical Portal.

Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Covid-19 Impacts
Covid-19 has had a global, widespread and significant general economic impact, including the New Zealand health sector. As
healthAlliance has been deemed an essential service, business continued throughout all levels of lockdown, albeit with the
majority of employees working remotely. The material impacts on healthAlliance included:
- Capital initiatives being paused to allow healthAlliance to focus on the immediate response;
- Capital funding being repurposed to fund the purchase of devices and solutions to assist the workforce of the
Northern Region DHBs to transition to being able to work remotely;
- The purchase of additional licences to meet increased remote working demand;
- The repurposing of staff generally dedicated to capitalisable activities to assist with the Covid-19 response; and
- The upfront purchase of clinical products to meet immediate demand, that was subsequently recovered from the
Northern Region DHBs.
See page 22 of this Annual Report for further commentary on Covid-19 and healthAlliance’s actions to respond to the impact of it.
The Directors considered whether there was any impact on going concern or impairment of assets. healthAlliance has the
ongoing support from the Northern Region DHBs, a strong balance sheet and forecast cash needs in the short to medium term
can still be met within cash held and existing debt facilities. There has been no significant impact on asset values or any increase
in bad debts.

2. Revenue
Group

Parent

2020
$000
163,179

2019
$000
151,069

2020
$000
133,297

2019
$000
130,442

Other services to Northern Region DHBs

1,267

1,440

485

508

Professional services to other Crown health entities

2,287

3,017

3,610

4,018

Covid19 related products resold to Northern
Region DHBs

1,748

-

-

-

Professional services to Northern Region DHBs

Other services to other related parties

-

28

-

27

168,481

155,554

137,392

134,995

Revenue from shareholders, specifically the Northern Region DHBs, is disaggregated to differentiate between revenue for the
provision of services contracted at the start of the year, as "professional services", and revenue for other or additional services
provided, as "other services".
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3. Other Expenses
Group

Outsourced personnel
Software licences
Computer hardware maintenance

Parent

2020
$000
5,782

2019
$000
4,616

2020
$000
3,975

2019
$000
3,233

36,684

32,006

36,571

31,949

3,090

3,247

3,075

3,234

Telecommunications

4,029

3,696

3,951

3,633

Infrastructure and non-clinical expenses

5,227

6,599

4,402

4,981

500

1,774

500

1,774

Write off of cancelled capital projects
Operating expenditure component of capital projects

1,919

-

1,919

-

Clinical products for Covid19 response

1,748

-

-

-

National procurement contract

1,209

-

-

-

183

325

133

107

-

21

-

21

174

157

133

118

3,400

3,162

3,376

3,162

-

167

-

167

Other expenses
Audit fees (for the audit of the prior year’s
financial statements)
Audit fees (for the audit of the current year
financial statements)
Property leases
Movement in building make-good provisions
Board member fees

115

125

84

92

Operating lease expenses

197

211

74

86

64,257

56,106

58,193

52,557

Research and Development costs, disclosed in the current year as ‘Operating expenditure component of capital projects’,
of $1.919m were expensed in the year (2019: $2.203m).

4. Employee Benefit Costs
Group

Parent

2020
$000
61,092

2019
$000
50,535

2020
$000
37,285

2019
$000
34,314

Contributions to defined contribution plans

1,696

1,555

1,102

1,178

Increase in employee benefit provisions

1,450

994

668

519

64,238

53,084

39,055

36,011

Wages and salaries

5. Finance
Group
2020
$000

Parent
2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

5a. Finance Revenue
Interest received

263

126

207

76

263

126

207

76

5b. Finance Costs
Interest expense

-

8

-

8

-

8

-

8
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6. Property, Plant and Equipment
Leasehold
Improvements
$000

Plant and
Equipment
$000

Vehicles
$000

IT
Equipment
$000

Work in
Progress
$000

Total
$000

5,964

2,391

114

100,501

13,908

122,878

Additions

-

-

-

-

16,024

16,024

Assets contributed by shareholders

-

-

-

3,230

-

3,230

Disposals

-

(96)

(23)

(16,588)

-

(16,707)

Transfer from Work in Progress

-

-

-

22,250

(22,250)

-

Cost
Balance at 1 July 2018

Transfer to Intangibles

-

-

-

-

(1,985)

(1,985)

Balance at 30 June 2019

5,964

2,295

91

109,393

5,697

123,440

Balance at 1 July 2019

5,964

2,295

91

109,393

5,697

123,440

Additions

-

-

-

-

24,223

24,223

Assets contributed by shareholders

-

-

-

222

-

222

Disposals

-

-

(20)

-

-

(20)

Transfer from Work in Progress

-

214

-

16,386

(16,600)

-

Transfer to Intangibles

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,964

2,509

71

126,001

13,320

147,865

1,492

648

114

51,490

-

53,744

701

325

-

15,309

-

16,335

Balance at 30 June 2020
Depreciation and Impairment Losses
Balance at 1 July 2018
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals

-

(96)

(23)

(16,233)

-

(16,352)

Balance at 30 June 2019

2,193

877

91

50,566

-

53,727

Balance at 1 July 2019

2,193

877

91

50,566

-

53,727

665

244

-

15,335

-

16,244

-

-

(20)

-

-

(20)

2,858

1,121

71

65,901

-

69,951

At 30 June 2019

3,771

1,418

-

58,827

5,697

69,713

At 30 June 2020

3,106

1,388

-

60,100

13,320

77,914

Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2020
Carrying Amounts

healthAlliance continues to review the life of its IT Equipment taking into consideration technological advances and of moving to
an as-a-Service model. As a result of this assessment a reduction in the accelerated depreciation provision was recognised in the
year of $1.396m (2019: credit of $0.586m) giving a total provision of $1.429m (2019: $2.825m).
Work in Progress relating to IT equipment is $13.320m (2019: $5.697m). No other asset classes have assets in the course of
construction.
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7. Intangible Assets
Software Assets
$000

Work in Progress
$000

Total Software
$000

159,153

43,725

202,878

-

23,066

23,066

Cost
Balance at 1 July 2018
Additions
Assets contributed by Shareholders

13,400

-

13,400

Transfer from Work in Progress

31,701

(31,701)

-

1,985

-

1,985

Balance at 30 June 2019

206,239

35,090

241,329

Balance at 1 July 2019

206,239

35,090

241,329

Transfer from Property, Plant and Equipment
Work in Progress

Additions

-

20,167

20,167

Assets contributed by Shareholders

10,468

-

10,468

Transfer from Work in Progress

20,164

(20,164)

-

-

-

-

236,871

35,093

271,964

100,557

-

100,557

30,028

-

30,028

Transfer from Property, Plant and Equipment
Work in Progress
Balance at 30 June 2020
Amortisation and Impairment Losses
Balance at 1 July 2018
Amortisation charge for the year
Impairment charge

1,101

-

1,101

Balance at 30 June 2019

131,686

-

131,686

Balance at 1 July 2019

131,686

-

131,686

26,544

-

26,544

(130)

-

(130)

158,100

-

158,100

At 30 June 2019

74,553

35,090

109,643

At 30 June 2020

78,771

35,093

113,864

Amortisation charge for the year
Impairment charge
Balance at 30 June 2020
Carrying amounts

healthAlliance reviewed the life of its Software Assets taking into consideration vendor end of life support dates and progress
with replacement systems. As a result, a reduction in the accelerated amortisation provision of $0.333m was taken up in the year
(2019 charge of $1.625m), a total now of $1.767m (2019: $2.101m).
An impairment due to outcomes of a project of work was decreased by $0.130m (2019: charge of $1.101m), giving an impairment
provision of $0.971m (2019: $1.101m).
Work in progress relating to software is $35.093m (2019: $35.090m). No other asset classes have assets in the course of
construction.
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8. Reconciliation of Surplus for the Period with Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Parent
2020
$000
(2,087)

2019
$000
292

42,658
(430)
500
-

46,363
(429)
1,774
355

617
37
(4,468)
455

(271)
(1,406)
(216)
(240)

2,013

213

353
(993)
39,648

(757)
(2,677)
45,678

Bank balances
NZ Health Partnerships Limited
Cash and cash equivalents

2020
$000
3
15,650
15,653

2019
$000
1
10,894
10,895

Bank overdrafts
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows

15,653

10,895

Surplus/(deficit) for the period
Add back non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation
Lease incentive amortisation
Asset write off
Loss on disposal
Movements in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
(Decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements
Increase in provisions
Increase/(decrease) in revenue received in advance
Net movement in working capital
Net cash inflow from operating activities

9. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The carrying value of cash at bank and term deposits with maturities less than three months approximates their fair value.
healthAlliance is a party to the "DHB Treasury Services Agreement" between NZ Health Partnerships and participating health
sector entities. This agreement enables NZ Health Partnerships to sweep bank accounts and invest surplus funds for the
collective benefit.

Annual Report 2019/20
52

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
10. Debtors and Other Receivables

Trade receivables

2020
$000
1,832

2019
$000
3,862

Other receivables

132

164

-

1,714

Debtors and other receivables – current

Other receivables from related parties, non-commercial terms

1,964

5,740

Other receivables from related parties, non-commercial terms

6,659

4,947

Debtors and other receivables – non current

6,659

4,947

The carrying value of debtors and other receivables approximates their fair value.
The ageing profile of receivables at year end is detailed below:

Not past due

Gross
Receivable
2020
$000
7,175

Impairment
2020
$000
-

Gross
Receivable
2019
$000
9,213

Impairment
2019
$000
-

167

-

356

-

Past due 0-30 days
Past due 31-90 days

671

-

312

-

Past due more than 91 days

610

-

806

-

8,623

-

10,687

-

Total
All receivables greater than 30 days in age are considered to be past due.

Provision for impairment is calculated based on a review of significant debtor balances and an assessment of all debtors for
impairment using an "expected credit loss" model. The impairment assessment is based on an analysis of the debtors known
likelihood to pay based on current circumstances and past collection history and write-offs.
Certain debtors as at 30 June 2020 have been considered for non-collectability and as a result no impairment has been
recognised (2019: $nil).
Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:		
2020
$000

2019
$000

8,623

10,687

Trade receivables
Gross receivables
Individual impairment

-

-

Net total receivables

8,623

10,687
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11. Prepayments
2020
$000
7,575

2019
$000
7,652

665

625

Trade payables

2020
$000
3,424

2019
$000
5,699

Other payables

8,162

7,889

Prepayments - current
Prepayments - non current

12. Creditors and Other Payables

ACC Levy payable

364

367

GST and PAYE payable

819

1,077

12,769

15,032

-

2,005

-

2,005

Other payables to related parties, non-commercial terms

Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. Therefore, the carrying value of
creditors and other payables approximates their fair value.
Before the transfer of HealthSource, all long-term payables were settled. Refer to note 24.
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13. Employee Entitlements
2020
$000

2019
$000

Salary and wages accrual

1,182

819

Liability for annual leave

2,878

2,689

Current Liabilities

Liability for other leave

126

89

Liability for long service leave

117

42

Liability for retirement gratuities

221

294

32

8

4,556

3,941

Liability for sick leave
Non-current Liabilities
Liability for long service leave
Liability for retirement gratuities
Liability for sick leave

805

918

1,892

1,931

106

114

2,803

2,963

2020
$000

2019
$000

Employee related provisions

3,233

1,220

Opening balance

1,220

1,007

(30)

(342)

14. Provisions

Current Liabilities

Provisions used
Provisions released

(292)

-

Additional provisions made

2,335

555

Closing balance

3,233

1,220

Compliance with the Holidays Act 2003
healthAlliance has estimated its liability at 30 June 2020 to be $3.233m (2019: $1.220m). Refer to Critical Estimates and
Assumptions for further background.
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15. Lease Incentives
2020
$000

2019
$000

430

430

430

430

2,148

2,578

2,148

2,578

Total lease incentives

2,578

3,008

Opening balance

3,008

3,438

Amortisation of balance

(430)

(430)

Closing balance

2,578

3,008

2020
$000

2019
$000

506

153

506

153

Current liabilities
Lease incentives received

Non-current liabilities
Lease incentives received

16. Revenue Received in Advance

Current Portion
Revenue in advance relating to contracts with
specific performance obligations

17. Borrowings
Under the "DHB Treasury Services Agreement" with NZ Health Partnerships healthAlliance has access to an overdraft equal
to a twelfth of the annual contracted DHB base revenue. As at 30 June 2020 the overdraft facility was not utilised (2019: $0).
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18. Shareholders' Equity
Class A shares are held equally by the four shareholders, Northland, Waitematā, Auckland and Counties Manukau District Health
Boards. Class C shares are of $1 each and confer no rights to appoint directors; rights as to distributions of capital or income; rights
as to dividends; no voting rights, but otherwise have the same rights and privileges as other shares.
								
2020
$000

2019
$000

800

800

800

800

Northland DHB

18,385

17,577

Waitematā DHB

46,642

40,094

Auckland DHB

74,069

70,281

Counties Manukau DHB

52,400

52,343

191,496

180,295

192,296

181,095

160 Class A shares of $5,000 each uncalled
Class C shares

Share capital

Class C shares have been issued as a result of IT assets transferred from each of the DHB shareholders and in relation to their contributions towards ongoing IT capital investment.
Capital Management
healthAlliance's capital is its equity, which comprises retained earnings and share capital. Equity is represented by its net assets.
healthAlliance is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which
imposes restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing guarantees and indemnities and the use of
derivatives.
The Group has complied with the financial management requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004 during the year.
healthAlliance manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments and
general financial dealings to ensure that healthAlliance effectively achieves its objectives and purposes while remaining a going
concern.		

		

19. Commitments
2020
$000

2019
$000

2,566

2,209

Non-lease commitments
Capital commitments
Non-cancellable - operating lease commitments
Not more than one year
Later than one year and not more than five years
Later than five years

3,351

3,041

13,235

14,668

2,897

6,231

19,483

23,940

healthAlliance leases certain IT services, with five-year terms, and office premises, the majority under a ten-year term with
an option to renew at expiry, through operating leases. Finance lease liabilities are disclosed in note 25.				
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20. Financial Instruments
2020

Notes

Designated at
Held for fair value through Financial assets at Financial liabilities
trading
profit or loss
amortised cost at amortised cost
$000
$000
$000
$000
8,623
-

Debtors and other receivables

10

Cash and cash equivalents

9

-

-

15,653

-

Creditors and other payables
(excluding Taxes and Revenue
in Advance)

12

Borrowings

17

-

-

-

(11,950)
-

-

-

24,276

(11,950)

2019

Notes

Designated at
Held for fair value through Financial assets at Financial liabilities
trading
profit or loss
amortised cost at amortised cost
$000
$000
$000
$000
10,687
-

Debtors and other receivables

10

Cash and cash equivalents

9

-

-

10,895

-

Creditors and other payables
(excluding Taxes and Revenue
in Advance)

12

Borrowings

17

-

-

-

(13,955)
-

-

-

21,582

(13,955)
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20. Financial Instruments (Continued)
Estimation of fair values analysis
The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments
reflected in the table.
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows.
Trade and other receivables / payables
For receivables / payables with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount is deemed to reflect the fair value. All
other receivables / payables are discounted to determine the fair value.
Other receivables
Other receivables include accrued revenue, recoveries for software items in development and for the value of certain employee
related entitlements. These receivables are with other Crown owned entities and are assessed to be low risk and high quality due
to their ownership and funding.
Financial investment risks
Exposure to credit, interest rate and currency risks arise in the normal course of healthAlliance's operations.
Credit Risk
Financial instruments, which potentially subject healthAlliance to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of cash, short
term deposits and accounts receivable.
healthAlliance is a party to the "DHB Treasury Services Agreement" between NZ Health Partnerships and all New Zealand district
health boards as well as other approved Crown-owned health sector entities. This agreement enables NZ Health Partnerships to
"sweep" the participating entities bank accounts overnight and invest surplus funds on their behalf with registered banks that
have a Standard and Poor's credit rating of at least A+.
Concentrations of credit risk from accounts receivable are limited due to the number and nature of the customers. The
shareholders are the largest debtors. They are assessed to be low risk and high quality entities due to their nature as government
funded providers of health and disability support services.
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to Standard and Poor’s
credit ratings (if available) or using the expected credit loss model as set out in PBE IFRS 9.

2020
$000

2019
$000

15,653

10,895

1,964

5,740

Counterparties with Credit Ratings
Cash and cash equivalents and investments AACounterparties without Credit Ratings
Debtors and other receivables
Existing counterparties with no defaults in the past
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
20. Financial Instruments (Continued)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk represents healthAlliance’s ability to meet its contractual obligations. healthAlliance evaluates its liquidity
requirements on an ongoing basis. In general, healthAlliance generates sufficient cash flows from its operating activities to meet
its obligations arising from its financial liabilities and has credit lines in place, through the DHB Treasury Services Agreement, to
cover potential shortfalls.
The following table sets out the contractual cash flows for the principal portion of all financial liabilities which have a negative
fair value or that are settled on a gross cash flow basis.

Statement
of Financial
Position
$000

Contractual
Cash Flow
$000

6 months
or less
$000

6-12
months
$000

1-2
years
$000

2-5
years
$000

More than 5
years
$000

2020
Trade and other payables

11,950

(11,950)

(11,950)

-

-

-

-

11,950

(11,950)

(11,950)

-

-

-

-

13,955

(13,955)

(13,955)

-

-

-

-

13,955

(13,955)

(13,955)

-

-

-

-

2019
Trade and other payables

Effective interest rates and repricing analysis
In respect of interest-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities, all investments and loans are on call and
pricing is based on current day bank rates.
Cash flow interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. healthAlliance’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is limited to on-call deposits. This exposure is not
considered significant and is not actively managed.
Sensitivity analysis
As at 30 June 2020, if floating interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower, with all other variables held constant, the
Group surplus for the year would have been $0.188m lower/higher (2019: $0.070m) on the floating rate borrowings, the Parent
would have been $0.146m lower/higher (2019: $0.047m).				
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
21. Board and Key Management Personnel Compensation
Key management personnel include the Chief Executive and members of the healthAlliance and HealthSource
Executive Team.

Group

Executive Leadership Team
Total value of benefits

Parent

2020
$000

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

4,102

3,987

2,276

2,585

Board Member's Remuneration
David Clarke (resigned 31 August 2018) (hA Chair)

-

11

-

9

Clayton Wakefield (appointed 24 October 2018) (hA Chair)

33

26

33

26

Roger Jones (hA)

17

17

17

17

Russell Jones (hA)

17

17

17

17

Catherine Abel-Pattinson (from 1 August 2018) (hA)

17

16

17

16

-

1

-

1

Lee Mathias (to 30 July 2018) (hA)
Paul Harper (resigned 30 October 2018 from hA,
HealthSource Chair entire period)

31

37

-

6

Michael Roberts (appointed 26 February 2020) (hA)

-

-

-

-

Rosalie Percival (hA/HealthSource)

-

-

-

-

Meng Cheong (resigned 31 January 2020) (hA/HealthSource)

-

-

-

-

Andrew Brant (appointed 30 October 2018 to hA,
HealthSource Director entire period)

-

-

-

-

Joyce Donaldson (appointed 18 June 2020) (HealthSource)

-

-

-

-

Margaret White (HealthSource)

Full-time equivalent members – Executive Leadership Team
Full-time equivalent members – Board Members

-

-

-

-

115

125

84

92

16

14

8

8

9

8

7

7

Due to the difficulty in determining the full-time equivalent for Board members, the full-time equivalent figure is taken as the
count of Board members.
There have been no payments made to committee members appointed by the Board who are not Board members during the
financial year.
Board Members Rosalie Percival, Andrew Brant and Margaret White are executives of Auckland DHB, Waitematā DHB and
Counties Manukau DHB respectively. Joyce Donaldson is, and Meng Cheong was, an executive of the Northland DHB. They are
not paid to act as Board members nor are their employing DHB's reimbursed for their costs when acting as Board members.
healthAlliance has effected Directors’ and Officers’ Liability and Professional Indemnity insurance cover during the financial year
in respect of the liability or costs of Board members and employees.
No Board members received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2019: $nil).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
22. Transactions with Related Parties
healthAlliance is an entity wholly owned by other, wholly-owned Crown entities. These entities are the Northland, Waitematā,
Auckland and Counties Manukau District Health Boards.
Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are within a normal supplier or client/
recipient relationship on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those it is reasonable to expect healthAlliance
to have adopted in dealing with the counter-party at arm's length in the same circumstances. Further, transactions with other
government agencies (for example, other district health boards, Government departments or other Crown agencies) are not
disclosed as related party transactions when they are consistent with the normal operating arrangements between government
agencies and undertaken on the normal terms and conditions for such transactions.
Non-Commercial Balances owed by Related Parties
2020
$000

2019
$000

1,326

1,326

Related by shareholding
Northland DHB
Waitematā DHB
Auckland DHB
Counties Manukau Health

534

534

4,452

4,452

347

347

6,659

6,659

The non-commercial balances owed by the DHB shareholders are for items related to uncalled share capital, certain staff
entitlements owing when staff transferred to healthAlliance and for charges relating to asset transfers. These are payable to
healthAlliance on call.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
23. Employee Remuneration
Group

Parent

2020

2019

2020

2019

54

60

44

50

Remuneration Range
$100,000-$110,000
$110,001-$120,000

42

36

37

35

$120,001-$130,000

31

36

25

27

$130,001-$140,000

19

16

14

11

$140,001-$150,000

16

13

9

10

$150,001-$160,000

7

13

5

13

$160,001-$170,000

10

3

9

3

$170,001-$180,000

7

4

5

3

$180,001-$190,000

1

4

1

4

$190,001-$200,000

7

2

6

1

$200,001-$210,000

5

3

3

2

$210,001-$220,000

3

1

1

-

$220,001-$230,000

2

2

1

2

$230,001-$240,000

1

-

1

-

$240,001-$250,000

1

2

1

2

$250,001-$260,000

1

2

1

1

$260,001-$270,000

3

2

3

2

$270,001-$280,000

2

-

1

-

$290,001-$300,000

-

1

-

1

$300,001-$310,000

1

1

1

-

$310,001-$320,000

-

1

-

1

$360,001-$370,000

-

1

-

-

$380,001-$390,000

-

1

-

-

$410,001-$420,000

1

-

-

-

$460,001-$470,000

-

1

-

1

$490,001-$500,000

1

-

1

-

The Group made termination payments, or compensation to those that ceased employment during the year, to nine staff
totalling $224,961 (2019: six staff, $208,728). The Parent made payments to three staff totalling $72,151 (2019: two staff,
$147,685).
The Payroll Services Transfer to HealthSource was effective on 1 October 2019 and the Parent only reflects the compensation
paid to staff employed by it up to that time. The Financial Services Transfer to HealthSource was effective on 1 January 2019 and
the Parent reflects only the compensation paid to staff employed by it up until that time. For the Group the compensation for the
transferred staff has been consolidated and the Group figures therefore reflect the total compensation paid over the course of
the full year. 							

Annual Report 2019/20
63

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
24. Investment in Subsidiary
2020

2019

0%

100%

HealthSource New Zealand Limited
(previously healthAlliance (FPSC) Limited)

On 30 June 2020 healthAlliance transferred 100% of its investment in HealthSource to the Northern Region DHBs. No gain or loss
arose on disposal. At the time of transfer HealthSource help $6.458m in cash and cash equivalents. healthAlliance has accounted
for the transaction based on its substance.

25. Finance Leases
On 20 May 2019, the Parent entered into a Participating Agency Agreement to provide certain services over a 60-month period.
Certain components of this offering are deemed to represent a finance lease.
Service establishment has been deemed to have occurred on 30 June 2020. Consequently healthAlliance recognised a finance
lease asset and liability of $7.842m on that date. Contractual cashflows are as follows:
Later than one
year and not
Not later than later than five
one year
years
$000
$000
Finance lease

1,863

Later than
five years
$000

Total
$000

7,454

-

9,317

Discounting impact

(506)

(969)

-

(1,475)

Present value (at commencement)

1,357

6,485

-

7,842

There are no contingent rents or intention to sub lease the underlying asset.

26. Contingent Liabilities
healthAlliance has no known potential contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020 (2019: $nil). The liability related to Holiday pay is
fully provided. See note 14.

27. Contingent Assets
healthAlliance has no known potential contingent assets as at 30 June 2020 (2019: $nil).
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28. Subsequent Events
There are no material events occurring subsequent to balance date requiring adjustment to or disclosure in the financial
statements. Covid-19 has not had a material impact on operations in the period subsequent to balance date.

29. Explanation of Budget Variances
Statement of Intent – Budget figures
Revenue
Total revenue for the Parent is aligned with Budget.
Total revenue for the Group is higher than budget due to HealthSource obtaining revenue for certain products purchased for
the immediate Covid-19 response and for additional services to the original SLA agreement being performed for the Northern
Region DHBs.
Expenditure
For the Parent and Group:
- Salary costs were greater than budget due to reduced recoveries from capital projects as staff were repurposed to the Covid-19
response, along with additional staff being hired to deliver on Covid-19 priorities. Furthermore an additional provision of
$2.335m was taken in relation to holiday pay.
- Depreciation and amortisation were lower than budget due to project delays, which resulted in later capitalisation dates and
the revision of accelerated depreciation provisions.
- Other expenses were less than budgeted due to project delays causing the operational expense uplift of certain initiatives
projects to commence later than expected.
Assets
Current assets were greater than expected largely due to the underspend of the healthAlliance Capital Plan resulting in
cash being carried forward into the next financial year. This was offset by a significant decrease in trade receivables and the
recategorisation of other receivables from related parties being current to non-current.
Non-current assets were less than budget due to the underspend of the healthAlliance Capital Plan and transfers of assets being
less than planned. Non-current debtors increased due to the recategorisation mentioned above.
Liabilities
Current liabilities are greater than budget due to the increase in the holiday pay provision which was not settled in the financial
year.
Non current liabilities are less than budget due to the settlement of the payable to HealthSource before transfer of ownership to
the Northern Region DHBs.
Equity
Equity is less than budget due to the deficit experienced in the year and the transfers of assets through C Class shares being less
than forecast.
Cash Flows
Cash flows from operating activities for the Parent were less than expected due to unbudgeted cash outflows related to the
Covid-19 response. For the Group cash flows from operating activities were greater than expected due to HealthSource receiving
greater cash flows from services and other receipts.
Cash flows from investing activities was less than expected due to the delayed healthAlliance Capital Plan and expected Central
Government Funding (“CGF”) for major projects not eventuating.
Cash flow from financing activities was less than budgeted due to CGF funding not flowing to healthAlliance, offset by the
expected dividend not being paid to maintain the strength of the balance sheet.
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Statement of Responsibility
For the year ended 30 June 2020
1. The Board accept responsibility for the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements, Statement of Performance and the
judgements used in them;
2. The Board accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting; and
3. In the opinion of the Board of healthAlliance N.Z. Limited, the Annual Financial Statements and the Statement of Performance
fairly reflect the financial position and operations of healthAlliance N.Z. Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020.

For and on behalf of the healthAlliance N.Z. Limited Board

Clayton Wakefield

Catherine Abel-Pattinson

Board Chair

Director

Date: 3 December 2020

Date: 3 December 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of healthAlliance N.Z Limited and group’s financial statements and
performance information for the year ended 30 June 2020

The Auditor-General is the auditor of healthAlliance N.Z Limited (healthAlliance) and group. The
Auditor-General has appointed me, J R Smaill, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry
out the audit of the financial statements and the performance information of healthAlliance and group on
his behalf.

Opinion
We have audited:


the financial statements of healthAlliance and group on pages 34 to 65, that comprise the
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of comprehensive revenue and
expenses, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that
date and the notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information; and



the performance information of healthAlliance on pages 25 to 32.

In our opinion:


the financial statements of healthAlliance and group on pages 34 to 65:






present fairly, in all material respects:


its financial position as at 30 June 2020; and



its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with
Public Benefit Entity accounting standards; and

the performance information on pages 25 to 32:


presents fairly, in all material respects, healthAlliance’s performance for the year ended
30 June 2020, including:


for each class of reportable outputs:


its standards of delivery performance achieved as compared with
forecasts included in the statement of performance expectations for
the financial year; and
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its and the group’s actual revenue and output expenses as compared
with the forecasts included in the statement of performance
expectations for the financial year; and

complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.

Our audit was completed on 3 December 2020. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below, and we draw attention to the impact of Covid-19 on
healthAlliance and group. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board and our responsibilities
relating to the financial statements and the performance information, we comment on other information,
and we explain our independence.

Emphasis of matter – Impact of Covid-19
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to the disclosures about the impact of Covid-19 on
healthAlliance and group as set out in note 1 of the financial statements and pages 25 to 29 of the
performance information.

Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate
the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by
the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of our report.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements and the performance
information
The Board is responsible on behalf of healthAlliance and group for preparing financial statements and
performance information that are fairly presented and comply with generally accepted accounting practice
in New Zealand. The Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable it
to prepare financial statements and performance information that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements and the performance information, the Board is responsible on behalf
of healthAlliance and group for assessing healthAlliance and group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The Board is also responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to merge or to terminate the activities of
healthAlliance and group, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Public Finance Act 1989.
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Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements and the
performance information
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the
performance information, as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in
accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or
error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the decisions of readers, taken on the basis of these financial statements and the
performance information.
For the budget information reported in the financial statements and the performance information, our
procedures were limited to checking that the information agreed to healthAlliance and group’s statement
of performance expectations.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements
and the performance information.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:


We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and the
performance information, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of healthAlliance and group’s internal control.



We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.



We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported performance information within
healthAlliance’s framework for reporting its performance.



We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the
Board and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on healthAlliance’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements and the
performance information or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause healthAlliance to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements and the
performance information, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements and the
performance information represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.



We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial statements of the entities
or business activities within healthAlliance and group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
healthAlliance and group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other information
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included on pages 1 to 24, 33, 66, and 72, but does not include the financial statements and the
performance information, and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements and the performance information does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements and the performance information, our
responsibility is to read the other information. In doing so, we consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the performance information or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Independence
We are independent of healthAlliance and group in accordance with the independence requirements of the
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of Professional
and Ethical Standard 1: International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in healthAlliance and group.

J R Smaill
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Auckland, New Zealand
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Statutory Information
The Directors of healthAlliance N.Z. Limited present the Financial Statements for the
year ended 30 June 2020.
Principal Activities

The principal activity of the healthAlliance group of companies during this year was the operation of shared services for district
health boards and New Zealand health organisations.

healthAlliance’s Corporate Address

Connect Business Park, 581-585 Great South Road, Penrose, Auckland.

healthAlliance N.Z. Limited Board of Directors' Register of Interests as at 30 June 2020
Board Member

Involvement with Other Organisations

Clayton Wakefield

• Director, The Cooperative Bank
• Chair, Cooperative Life Ltd
• The Institute of Directors in New Zealand Incorporated:
• Auckland Branch Committee
• Council Representative
• Digital Project Committee Chair
• Audit and Risk Committee
• Health and Safety Committee
• Governance Leadership Oversight Committee
• Chartered Member
• Director, Shareholder, Walsh Financial Services
• Director, Shareholder, Wakefield and Walsh Ltd
• Shareholder, Commercial Information Systems New Zealand Ltd
• Orion Health Shareholder (as a Trustee)
• Chair (Interim) Auckland Te Araroa Trust Advisory Group

Catherine Abel-Pattinson

• Counties Manukau DHB
• Board Member
• Hospital Committee Chair
• Audit and Risk Committee Member
• Board Member, International Accreditation New Zealand

Andrew Brant

•
•
•
•
•

Rosalie Percival

• Trustee, A+ Trust
• Chief Financial Officer, Auckland DHB
• Director, HealthSource New Zealand Limited

Roger Jones

•
•
•
•

Russell Jones

• Director, BNZ Investments Limited

Michael Roberts

• Chief Medical Officer, Northland DHB
• Director, Northern Region Helicopter Trust
• Shareholder, Sense Medical

Director, Northern Regional Alliance Limited
Deputy CEO, Waitematā DHB
Director, Precision Driven Health
Director, Well Foundation
Director, HealthSource New Zealand Limited

Director, Corporate Apartments Limited
Advisory Board member, Hewlett Packard Enterprise (HPE) Customer Advisory Board
Chief Technology Officer, Auckland Transport
Advisory Board Member, Microsoft Services Executive Board

Auditor
The Auditor-General is appointed under section 14 of the Public Audit Act 2001. Audit New Zealand has been contracted to
provide these services.

Annual Report 2019/20
72

